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MKB Bank Zrt.
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at June 30, 2013

Assets
Cash reserves 285 137 413 790
Loans and advances to banks 5 33 687 81 316
Trading assets 6 40 077 33878
Investments in securities 8 254 939 229 230
Loans and advances to customers 9 1381222 1 658 357
Assets from discontinued operations as held for sale 30 293 824 66 173
Other assets 10 17 230 16 076
Deferred tax assets - 433
Investments in jointly controlled entities and associates 11 7718 7 686
Intangibles, property and equipment 12 70 258 72234
Total assets 2384092 2579173
Liabilities
Amounts due to other banks 13 408 598 674 216
Deposits and current accounts 14 1230 448 1389 037
Trading liabilities 15 20 060 21 835
Micro hedge derivative liabilities held for risk management 16 106 214
Liabilities of discontinued operations as held for sale 30 264 725 59 497
Other liabilities and provisions 17 30977 27 507
Deferred tax liabilities 281 264
Issued debt securities 18 187 849 170 246
Subordinated debt 102 219 101 642
Total liabilities 2245263 2444 458
Equity
Share capital 19 145 250 108 936
Reserves 20 (10 124) 21072
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Bank 135126 130 008
Non-controlling interests 3703 4 707
Total equity 138 829 134 715

Total liabilities and e quity 2 384 092

Budapest, 27 Augu@
/’/,d.l: al Simak’

- Chairman & Chief Executive
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MKB Bank Zrt.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended June 30, 2013

Income statement:

Interest income
Interest expense

Netinterest income

Nole 2013

64 679
34116

2012

73011
45 745

Net income from commissions and fees
Other operating income / (expense)
Impairments and provisions for losses
Operating expenses

Share of jointly controlled and associated companies' profit / (loss) before taxation

Loss before taxation

30 563

8 467
(20 048)

21 21129
24 009

(140)

(26 296)

27 260

5386
(6 062)
16 575
27914

(69)

(17 968)

Income tax (credit) / expense

22 237

(18 231)

30 (5 887)

(32 420)

(1 596)

(19 827)

Other comprehensive income:

Other equity transaction with Non-controlling Interest
Revaluation on AFS financial assets
Revaluation of equity put option
Exchange differencies on translating forei
Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax

TOTAL COMPREHENSI

INCOME FOR THE YEAR

(31 885)

(13 952)

Profit / (Loss) attributable to:
Loss for the period from continuing operation
Loss for the period from discontinued operation
Sharcholders of the bank
Loss for the period from continuing operation
Loss for the period from discontinued operation
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Total comprehensive income from continuing operation
Total comprehensive income from discontinued operation
Shareholders of the bank
Total comprehensive income from continuing operation
Total comprehensive income from discontinued operation
Non-controlling interests

Net income available to ordinary shareholders
Average number of ordinary shares outstanding (thousands)

Earnings per Ordinary Share (in HUF)
Basic
Diluted

Dividend per Ordinary Sharve (in HUF)

Budapest, 27 August, 2013
ALl
imak

bl
Chairman & Chief Executive
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(26 438)
(5 685)
(32 123)
(95)
(202)
297)

(26 098)
(5 566)
(31 664)
21)
(200)
221)

(32 123)
94 935

23
(338)
(338)

I3
Jinos Rydi
Director

(17 976)
(1 495)
(19 471)
(254)
(on
(355)

9 601)
(4 139)
(13 740)
59
71y
212)

(19471)
27 136

(718)
(718)
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MKB Bank Zrt.
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended June 30, 2013

Revaluation

i Reyaluati han Total
I'ranslation - evaluation L ol

Share Share Retained = i controlling
of loreign f ol equity

A equity
camings interests

capital pre minm g .
F L ape rations assels put option

At January 2012 20 733 184 089 (114 095) (4 106) 6 594
Issue of share capital and share premium 19,20 88 203 38797 - - - - - 127000
Dividend for the year 2011 - - - a7 - - (114) (151)
Loss for the year - - - (86 771) - - (898) (87 669)
Other comprehensive mcome for the year - - (1499) (2 189) 14 389 1 806 (212) 12295
Change in non-controlling interests during the period - - - (185) - - (664) (849)

At 31 December 2002 (203 277) 4706 134715
Issuc of share capital and share premium 19,20 36314 - - - - - - 36314
Dividend for the year 2012 o - - - - - - -
Loss for the year - - - (32123) - - (297) (32 420)
Other comprehensive mcome for the year - - 293 (2379) 481 2360 (221) 534
First/ (final) consolidation of subsidiarics - - - 340 - - - 340
Change m non-controlling interests during the period - - - (169) - - (485) (654)

145 250 122 886 8 (237 608) 2 47 3703

Budapest, 27 August, 2013

LA
(frP Simak

Chairman & Chief Executive Director
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MKB Bank Zrt.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended June 30, 2013

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit / Loss before taxation (26 296) (81 317)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 12 3 475 12 980
Impairment on other assets 10 47 526
Provisions for off-BS items 17 (5 BBO) 1591
Impairment on financial assets (loans and advaces) 5.9 20 056 68 146
Impairment on AFS securities, net 8 - (B45)
Impairment on jomtliy controlled entities (GW) and Change in post
acquisition reserve of jointly controlled entities and associates 11 (33) 773
Deferred tax movement 22 450 (1 958)
Net Interest income (13 297 (<1 414)
Dividends on available for sale securities (14) (76)
5,9,10,11, 13,18
Foreign Exchange movement Change in Equity 1150 (7315)
(20 342) (48 909)
Change in loans and advances to banks (gross amounts) 5 47 622 3 798
Change in loans and advances 1o customers (gross amounts) 9 267 798 280 736
Change in trading assels 6 (6 200) 23 770
Change in AFS securities (withoul revaluation and impairment) 8 (25 232) 74 949
Change in other assels (gross amounts) 10 {1 201) 16 066
Change in amounts due to banks (short terny) 13 (155 474y {259 985)
Change in curremt and deposit accounts 14 (158 589) (74 435)
Change in other liabilities and provisions
(without provision charge of the year) 17 9318 (5113)
Change in trading liabilities 15 478 (9871
Interest received 49 288 129 683
Interest paid (35 9921) (88 269)
Dividends received 14 76
Income tax paid (237) 1 505
(B 406) 92910
Net cash from operating activities (28 748) 44 001
Cash flow from investing activities
Investment in group companies 8,11, OCI1 (3 033) (3 038)
Disposals of group companies 8,11 - -
Purchase of property and equipment 12 (1 456) (7 014)
Disposals of property and equipment 12 371 950
Purchase of intangible assets 12 (2 468) (3 593)
Disposals of intangible assets 12 1 707 B67
Net cash used in investing activities (4 879) (11 B28)
Cash flow from financing activities
Increase in ued securities 18 22 031 (B99)
Increase in subordinated liabilities 571 (6 Bad)
Change in amounts due 1o banks (Borrowings) 13 (110 145) (43 125)
Issuance of new shares and
proceeds from share premium 36314 127 000
Dividends paid Change in cquity = (151)
Net cash from financing activites (51.223) 75 981

Cash rescrves at 1 January 413 790 321 677
FX change on cash reserve 28 (2 579)
Discontinued operation (43 831) (13 462)
Cash reserves at the end of period 285 137 413 790
Budapest, 27 Au ~2013 / 2
——t
A {// (‘ 7
1 K T r r =z
dr Pal'Simak Janos Radi

Chairman & Chief Executive Diréctor
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(from page 8 to page 62)

1 General information

MKB Bank Zrt. (“MKB” or “the Bank”) is a commerciabank domiciled in Hungary,
organised under the laws of Hungary and registaraeter the Hungarian Banking Act. The
address of MKB is Vaci u. 38., HU-1056 Budapestnéghry.

The interim consolidated financial statements ef Bank as at and for the half year ended 30
June 2013 comprise the Bank and its subsidiariggeifter referred to as the “Group”). The
Group conducts its domestic and cross-border fiahiservices businesses through banking
and non-banking subsidiaries. For further inforovatbn consolidated subsidiaries please see
Note 28. MKB is a member of the BayernLB Groupmitnled in Germany. The address of
BayernLB's Head Office is Brienner Str. 18, D-80383nich, Germany.

2 Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards

The interim consolidated financial statements ef @roup have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting StandardBRSs’) as adopted by the EU.

IFRSs comprise accounting standards issued by AlSB land its predecessor body and
interpretations issued by the International Finaln€&eporting Interpretations Committee
(‘IFRIC’) and its predecessor body.

These financial statements are presented in Huarg&orint (HUF), rounded to the nearest
million, except if indicated otherwise. These fiogh statements were authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors on 27 August, 2013.

3 Summary of significant accounting policies

Accounting policies are the specific principlessés conventions, rules and practices adopted
by the Group in preparing and presenting the cdoest@ld financial statements. The
accounting policies set out below have been appl@tsistently to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements, and heee applied consistently by Group entities.
MKB have used the same accounting policies in ttwod ended June 30, 2013 as in the
period before, although there have been a chanteimethod of computations which related
to fair value of financial instruments which waggrered by IFRS implementation, please
refer to Note 32 and Note 3g.

a, Financial statement presentation

These consolidated financial statements includeatteounts of MKB and its subsidiaries,

jointly controlled entities and associates (“theo@”). The income, expenses, assets and
liabilities of the subsidiaries are included in thespective line items in the consolidated
financial statements, after eliminating inter-compaalances and transactions.

8/67
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b, Consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Gralgmtrol exists when the Group has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies nfeatity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities. In assessing control, potential votiights that presently are exercisable are taken
into account. Newly acquired subsidiaries are claaied from the date that the Group gains
control. The acquisition accounting method is udedaccount for the acquisition of
subsidiaries by MKB. The cost of an acquisitionneasured at the fair value of the
consideration given at the date of exchange, theisition — related costs are recognized in
profit or loss. The acquired identifiable asseiapilities and contingent liabilities are
measured at their fair values at the date of aitopris Any excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of thentdfiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired is recorded as goodwill. Iethost of acquisition is less than the fair value
of the Group’s share of the identifiable assewbiliies and contingent liabilities of the
business acquired, the difference is recognisedediately in the statement of comprehensive
income.

Special purpose entities

Special purpose entities are entities that aretedet® accomplish a narrow and well-defined
objective such as the execution of a specific lwimg or lending transaction.

The financial statements of special purpose estdi® included in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements where the substance of traioakhip is that the Group controls the
special purpose entity.

Funds management

The Group manages and administers assets heldiéstiment funds on behalf of investors.
The financial statements of these entities areimdtided in these consolidated financial
statements except when the Group controls theyentit

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income expknses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the dateed financial statements. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as unreajiaied, but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

¢, Investments in jointly controlled entities and asociated companies

Jointly controlled entities

Where the Group is a party to a contractual arnauage whereby, together with one or more
parties, it undertakes an economic activity thegubject to joint control, the Group classifies
its interest in the venture as a joint venturentdpicontrolled entities are included in the
consolidated financial statements using equity oaethf accounting, from the date that joint
control effectively commences until the date thontj control effectively ceases. Under this
method, such investments are initially stated at,docluding attributable goodwill, and are
adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition changke Group’s share of net assets.

9/67
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Associates

MKB classifies investments in entities over whi¢hhas significant influence, and that are
neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures, as astegig-or the purpose of determining this
classification, control is considered to be the powo govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits fritgnactivities. Associates are accounted for
under the equity method of accounting except when ibvestment is acquired and held
exclusively with a view to its disposal in the néature, in which case it is accounted for
under the cost method. Under this method, suchstments are initially stated at cost,
including attributable goodwill, and are adjustbdreafter for the post-acquisition change in
MKB’s share of net assets. For consolidation puepgdKB uses financial statements of an
associate within a three months limit if the repagytperiod of the entity is different as at the
end of year.

Profits on transactions between MKB and its assesiand joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of MKB'’s interest in the respective ats@s or joint ventures. Losses are also
eliminated to the extent of MKB’s interest in thesaciates or joint ventures unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairmenhefasset transferred.

A list of the Group’s significant jointly controlleand associated companies is set out in Note
11.

d, Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetaretaswithout physical substance held for
supply of services, or for administration purposes.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on business combinations, includivgacquisition of subsidiaries, and on the
acquisition of interests in joint ventures and a&ses, when the cost of acquisition exceeds
the fair value of Group’s share of the identifiablesets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired. If Group’s interest in the fair value thfe identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of an acquired businessrisater than the cost of acquisition, the excess
is recognised immediately in the statement of camn@nsive income.

Goodwill was amortised over five years using thaight-line method till the end of 2004.
From 2005, goodwill is not amortised but annuadistéd for impairment.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwilkicated to one or more of the Group's
cash-generating units, that are expected to bemefih the synergies of the business
combination, irrespective whether other assetsabilities are assigned to them. Impairment
testing is performed at least annually, and whenévere is an indication that the cash-
generating unit may be impaired, by comparing tresgnt value of the expected future cash
flows from a cash-generating unit with the carryiagount of its net assets, including
attributable goodwill. Goodwill is stated at costs$ accumulated impairment losses.
Impairment losses recognized for goodwill are chdrgp the statement of comprehensive
income and are not reversed in a subsequent period.

Goodwill on acquisitions of interests in joint vergs and associates is included in
‘Investments in jointly controlled entities and asistes’.

10/67
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At the date of disposal of a business, attributgbledwill is included in the Group’s share of
net assets in the calculation of the gain or losdisposal.

Other intangible assets

Intangible assets that have a finite useful life Bmeasured initially at costs and subsequently
carried at costs less any accumulated amortisai@hany accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets are amortised over their estonateful lives not exceeding 15 years -

except of the core banking system, which has adieauntil 2026 - from the date when the

asset is available for use, applying the straigig-4nethod.

Intangible assets that have an indefinite usefe) br are not yet ready for use, are tested for
impairment annually. This impairment test may befggened at any time during the year,
provided it is performed at the same time every.yda intangible asset recognised during
the current period is tested before the end ottieent year.

Expenditure on internally developed intangible a¢seftware) is recognised as an asset when
the Group is able to demonstrate its intention aitity to complete the development and use

the software in a manner that will generate fuegenomic benefits, and can reliably measure
the costs to complete the development. The caggthlcosts of internally developed software

include all costs directly attributable to develupithe software, and are amortised over its
useful life. Internally developed software is sthtet capitalised cost less accumulated

amortisation and impairment.

Subsequent expenditure on software assets is lisgitaonly when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the specific asse&tftich it relates. All other expenditure is
expensed as incurred.

e, Property, plant and equipment

Items of property and equipment including leaselimidrovements and investment properties
are measured at cost less accumulated deprecattbimpairment losses.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly aitéable to the acquisition of the asset. When
parts of an item of property or equipment haveedéht useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property gngenent.
The estimated useful lives of property, plant agdigment are as follows:

« freehold land is not depreciated,;

« components of freehold buildings are depreciatest 6v100 years

« leasehold buildings are depreciated over the unestierms of the leases, or over

their remaining useful lives.

The estimated residual value of some of the builsliirs higher than the book value and
therefore not depreciated.

Equipment, fixtures and fittings (including equipmen operating leases where MKB Group
is the lessor) are stated at cost less any impairtosses and depreciation calculated on a
straight-line basis to write off the assets oveirthiseful lives, which run to a maximum of 20
years but are generally between 5 years and 18.year

11/67
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Depreciation of property, plant and equipment aduided in ,Operating expenses” line in
statement of comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment is subject to an impnt review if there are events or
changes in circumstances which indicate that thgiog amount may not be recoverable.

Net gains and losses on disposal or retirementagesty and equipment are included in other
income, in the year of disposal or retirement.

Investment properties are held by the bank to eantals and for capital appreciation.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attable to the acquisition of the asset. When
parts of an item of property or equipment haveetddnt useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property gngenent.
The estimated useful lives of investment propediesas follows:

« components of buildings are depreciated over 25yE@0s

e connecting equipments are depreciated over 20 years

Depreciation of investment property is included@ther operating income / (expenses)” line
in statement of comprehensive income.

The fair value of the investment properties shall dupervised yearly by an independent
appraiser. Should the fair value be much lower tthencarrying amount, impairment loss
shall be recognized through profit or losses.

Net gains and losses on disposal or retirementropesty is disclosed as the own used
properties.

f, Cash reserve

Cash reserve include notes and coins on hand, trinted balances held with central banks
and highly liquid financial assets with original im@ties of less than three months, which are
subject to insignificant risk of changes in theiirfvalue, and are used by the Group in the
management of its short-term commitments.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amongsstdn the statement of financial position.

g, Determination of fair value

All financial instruments measured at Fair Valueotlgh Profit or Loss are recognised
initially at fair value, other financial assets aliabilities are recognized at fair value plus
transaction cost that are directly attributableghe acquisition or issue of financial asset or
financial liability. In the normal course of busgse the fair value of a financial instrument on
initial recognition is the transaction price (thstthe fair value of the consideration given or
received). In certain circumstances, however, tligal fair value will be based on other
observable current market transactions in the sasteument, or on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from observaldekets, such as interest rate yield curves,
option volatilities and currency rates. When susfdence exists, the Group recognises a
trading gain or loss on inception of the finandgradtrument. When unavailable market data
have a significant impact on the valuation of ficiahinstruments, the entire initial difference
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in fair value indicated by the valuation model frahe transaction price is not recognised

immediately in the statement of comprehensive iredmt is recognised over the life of the

transaction on an appropriate basis, or when thetsnbecome observable, or the transaction
matures or is closed out, or when the Group efmérsan offsetting transaction.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the fair valudsfinancial instruments measured at fair
value that are quoted in active markets are basdadprices for assets held and offer prices
for liabilities issued. When independent pricesrastavailable, fair values are determined by
using valuation techniques which refer to obsemabéarket data. These include comparison
with similar instruments where market observablegw exist, discounted cash flow analysis,
option pricing models and other valuation techngjoemmonly used by market participants.
For financial instruments, fair values may be dateed in whole or in part using valuation
techniques based on assumptions that are not defdpby prices from current market
transactions or observable market data.

Factors such as bid-offer spread, credit profilé arodel uncertainty are taken into account,
as appropriate, when fair values are calculatedhgusialuation techniques. Valuation
techniques incorporate assumptions that other rhapketicipants would use in their
valuations, including assumptions about intereit y#&ld curves, exchange rates, volatilities,
and prepayment and default rates. Positive andtinegéair values of OTC derivative
instruments are adjusted with counter party rislalgation. The fair value shall be adjusted
by PD x LGD, and the adjustment shall be recogniregains or loss. Where a portfolio of
financial instruments has quoted prices in an actharket, the fair value of the instruments
are calculated as the product of the number ofkwant quoted price and no block discounts
are made.

In 2013, there have been a change in the methedroputation counterparty risk due to the
implementation of IFRS 13 standard which resultethe introduction of DVA (Debit Value
Adjustment), the result of own credit risk on fical instruments. In the calculation of CVA
there have also been changes to be in line wittDW& method. For further details on the
change in estimate please refer to Note 32.

If the fair value of a financial asset measurefhiatvalue becomes negative, it is recorded as a
financial liability until its fair value becomes gitive, at which time it is recorded as a
financial asset.

The fair values of financial liabilities are measdirusing quoted market prices where
available, or using valuation techniques. These Yailues include market participants’
assessments of the appropriate credit spread tp tapihe Group’s liabilities.

h, Loans and advances to banks and customers

Loans and advances to banks and customers inchates land advances originated by the
Group which are not classified as Fair Value Thio&gofit or Loss. Loans and advances are
recognised when cash is advanced to borrowerdefwetit date). They are derecognised
when either borrower repay their obligations, oe #lmans are sold or written off, or
substantially all the risks and rewards of owngrstre transferred. They are initially recorded
at fair value plus any directly attributable tractsan costs and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest methesk impairment losses. Where loans and
advances are hedged by derivatives designated malifying as fair value hedges, the
carrying value of the loans and advances so hetlgdades a fair value adjustment for the
hedged risk only.
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i, Impairment of loans and advances

At the end of each reporting period the Group aesesvhether there is objective evidence
that loans and advances are impaired. Loans andnads are impaired when objective
evidence demonstrates that a loss event has odcaftex the initial recognition of the asset,
and that the loss event has an impact on the futash flows on the asset that can be
estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that loans and advances areiiegpaan include default or delinquency
by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advangéhle Group on terms that the Group would
not otherwise consider, indications that a borroarerssuer will enter bankruptcy, or other
observable data relating to a group of assets as@uverse changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the group, or economic conditions tiwatelate with defaults in the group.
Impairment allowances are calculated on individeahs and on groups of loans assessed
collectively. Impairment losses are recorded aggdsto the statement of comprehensive
income. The carrying amount of impaired loans atéhd of the reporting period is reduced
through the use of impairment allowance accourdsses expected from future events are not
recognised.

Individually assessed loans and advances

For all loans that are considered individually #igant, the Group assesses on a case-by-case
basis at the end of each reporting period whetieetis any objective evidence that a loan is
impaired. Impairment losses on assets carried attea®ad cost are measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial asaatsthe present value of estimated cash
flows discounted at the assets’ original effeciivierest rate. Losses are recognised in profit
or loss and reflected in an allowance account agdoans and advances. Interest on the
impaired assets continues to be recognised thrtheggbnwinding of the discount.

Collectively assessed |oans and advances

Impairment is assessed on a collective basis fardgeneous groups of loans that are not
considered individually significant.

Loans not assessed on an individual basis, or wtherendividual assessment resulted in no
specific provision, are grouped together accordmgheir credit risk characteristics for the
purpose of calculating an estimated collective.léf®wvever, losses in these groups of loans
are recorded on an individual basis when loansvaitten off, at which point they are
removed from the group.

In assessing collective impairment the Group utaisscal modelling of historical trends of
the probability of default, timing of recoveriesdathe amount of loss incurred, adjusted for
management’s judgement as to whether current edereomd credit conditions are such that
the actual losses are likely to be greater ortless suggested by historical modelling. Default
rates, loss rates and the expected timing of furreveries are regularly benchmarked

Renegotiated loans

Loans subject to collective impairment assessméoiser terms have been renegotiated are no
longer considered past due, but are treated adg@ws for measurement purposes once the
minimum numbers of payments required under the amangements have been received.
Loans subject to individual impairment assessmg&hgse terms have been renegotiated, are
subject to ongoing review to determine whether tfeggain impaired or should be considered
past due.
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Write-off of loans and advances

A loan (and the related impairment allowance actosmormally written off, either partially
or in full, when there is no realistic prospectfifther recovery of the principal amount and,
for a collateralised loan, when the proceeds freatising the security have been received.

Reversals of impairment

If the amount of an impairment loss decreasessubsequent period, and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after impairment was recognised, the excess is
written back by reducing the loan impairment allosa account accordingly. The write back
is recognised in the statement of comprehensivaniec

Assets acquired in exchange for loans

Non-financial assets acquired in exchange for loangart of an orderly realisation are
recorded as assets held for sale and reportedtirer@ssets’. The asset acquired is recorded
at the lower of its fair value (less costs to saltd the carrying amount of the loan (net of
impairment allowance) at the date of exchange. &wetiation is charged in respect of assets
held for sale. Any subsequent write-down of theudregl asset to fair value less costs to sell is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive incaméOther operating income’. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value less costgltpto the extent this does not exceed the
cumulative write down, is also recognised in ‘Otlogrerating income’, together with any
realised gains or losses on disposal.

J, Trading assets and trading liabilities

Treasury bills, debt securities, equity shareschassified as held for trading if they have been
acquired principally for the purpose of selling @purchasing in the near term. These
financial assets or financial liabilities are reomgd on trade date, when the Group enters into
contractual arrangements with counterparties tatmge or sell securities, and are normally
derecognised when either sold (assets) or extihgdidliabilities). Measurement is initially at
fair value, with transaction costs taken to thetestent of comprehensive income.
Subsequently, their fair values are remeasuredadrghins and losses from changes therein
are recognised in the statement of comprehensogrie in ‘Other operating income’ as they
arise.

Interest earned on trading debt securities is tedoms trading result among the other
operating income when it becomes due. The dividemdsed on trading equity instruments
are disclosed separately among the interest incamen received. Interest payable on
financial liabilities acquired for trading purpossseported as other operating expense.

k, Financial instruments designated as fair valuehrough profit or loss

Financial instruments, other than those held faditrg, are classified in this category if they

meet one or more of the criteria set out below, arelso designated by management. The
Group may designate financial instruments at falue when the designation eliminates or

significantly reduces valuation or recognition insistencies that would otherwise arise from

measuring financial assets or financial liabilities recognising gains and losses on them, on
different bases. Under this criterion, the mairssés of financial instruments designated by
the Group are:
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Long-term deposit

The interest payable on certain fixed rate longitdeposits from investment funds has been
matched with the interest on ‘receive fixed/payiatale’ interest rate swaps and cross-
currency swaps as part of a documented interestrigk and FX risk management strategy.
An accounting mismatch would arise if the deposgitse accounted for at amortised cost,
because the related derivatives are measured ravdhie with changes in the fair value
recognised in the statement of comprehensive inc&yelesignating the long-term deposits
at fair value, the movement in the fair value af tbng-term deposits is also be recognised in
the Statement of comprehensive income.

Structured Bonds

MKB issues structured bonds for its retail anditngbnal clients since 2008. In these bonds
there are embedded derivatives (options) that tabe separated under IAS 39.11 unless the
hybrid instruments are measured at fair value. Gheup eliminated its interest and foreign
currency risk arising from the above mentioned apsi by entering into offsetting option
transactions. To eliminate valuation inconsistesicibese structured bonds are designhated at
fair value to profit or loss in their entirety aad a consequence the embedded derivates are
not separated.

The fair value designation, once made, is irrevicabDesignated financial assets and
financial liabilities are recognised when the Grampers into the contractual provisions of the
arrangements with counterparties, which is general trade date, and are normally
derecognised when sold (assets) or extinguishebilities). Measurement is initially at fair
value, with transaction costs taken directly to #tatement of comprehensive income.
Subsequently, the fair values are remeasured, amd gnd losses from changes therein are
recognised in “Interest income”.

[, Investments in securities

Treasury bills, debt securities and equity shamsnded to be held on a continuing basis,
other than those designated at fair value (Note¢),3ake classified as available-for-sale. The
held to maturity category is not applied at the Wprdevel. Financial investments are
recognised on trade date, when the Group enters déonhtractual arrangements with
counterparties to purchase securities, and areailyrolerecognised when either the securities
are sold or the borrowers repay their obligations.

Available-for-sale securities are initially meaglirgt fair value plus direct and incremental
transaction costs. They are subsequently remeasirédr value, and changes therein are
recognised in equity in the ‘Revaluation reservetiluthe securities are either sold or
impaired. When available-for sale securities are,scumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in equity are recognised in the statern&rromprehensive income as “Other
operating income”.

At the end of each reporting period an assessnsemiade of whether there is any objective
evidence of impairment in the value of a finaneisset or group of assets. This usually arises
when circumstances are such that an adverse effe@iture cash flows from the asset or
group of assets can be reliably estimated. If aalable-for-sale security is impaired, the
cumulative loss (measured as the difference betwleerasset’s acquisition cost (net of any
principal repayments and amortisation) and itsemtrfair value, less any impairment loss on
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that asset previously recognised in the statemecbmprehensive income) is removed from
equity and included in the statement of comprehenisicome.

When a subsequent event causes the amount of mgggiloss on an available-for-sale debt
security to decrease, the impairment loss is redethrough profit or loss. However, any
subsequent recovery in the fair value of an imphiagailable-for-sale equity security is

recognised directly in equity. Changes in impairbp@ovisions attributable to time value are
reflected as a component of interest income.

m, Derivatives

Derivatives are recognised initially, and are sgbeatly remeasured, at fair value. Fair
values of exchange-traded derivatives are obtdired quoted market prices. Fair values of
over-the-counter derivatives are obtained usingiat&n techniques, including discounted
cash flow models and option pricing models.

Derivatives may be embedded in other financialrimeents. Embedded derivatives are
treated as separate derivatives when their econoha@cacteristics and risks are not clearly
and closely related to those of the host contitaetjterms of the embedded derivative would
meet the definition of a stand-alone derivativéhiy were contained in a separate contract;
and the combined contract is not held for tradingesignated at fair value. These embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with charipesein recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Derivatives are classified as assets when theivédue is positive or as liabilities when their
fair value is negative. Derivative assets and litds arising from different transactions are
only offset if the transactions are with the samenterparty, a legal right of offset exists, and
the parties intend to settle the cash flows ontdasis.

The method of recognising fair value gains anddsesioes not depend on whether derivatives
are held for trading or are designated as hedgistruments. All gains and losses from
changes in the fair value of derivatives held fading or designated as hedging instrument in
hedging relationships are recognised in the staiewiecomprehensive income as the group
uses only fair value hedges to hedge its risks.

Equity put options shall be checked before evabmatvhether the non-controlling interest
(NCI) has an access to the future economic beagrftitthey can practice its owner rights. If
NCI have present access to the ownership benkétsare subject to the put option on initial
recognition of the liability, the debit entry is # separated equity element. Subsequent to
initial recognition changes in the fair value of[d€1 put liability shall be recognized in other
comprehensive income. Gains or losses from curréanglation shall be recognized directly
in currency translation reserve of foreign operatidhis application of this method has no
impact on the “normal” accounting treatment of NCI.

n, Hedge accounting

As part of its asset/liability management actigti¢he Group uses interest rate swaps and
Cross currency interest rate swaps, to hedge rgidtreign currency and interest rate
exposures. A hedging relationship qualifies forcsglehedge accounting if, and only if, all of
the following conditions are met:
e at the inception there is a formal documentationthef hedging relationship that
includes among others the identification of thedieg instrument and the specific
hedged item, the nature of risk being hedged.
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« a high level of hedge effectiveness is expectethatinception and the hedge is
actually effective throughout the hedge period,
* hedge effectiveness can be reliably measured.

The Group also requires a documented assessmemt ongoing basis, of whether or not the
hedging instruments, primarily derivatives, thag¢ aised in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting the changes attributablethe hedged risks in the fair values of the
hedged items. Interest on designated qualifyinggbeds included in “Interest income” or
“Interest expense”.

Fair value hedge

A fair value hedge represents a contract that redgeecognised asset or liability, or an

identified portion of such an asset or liabilitgaénst exposure to changes in the fair value
that is attributable to a particular risk and thdt affect reported net income. The gain or loss

from re-measuring the hedging instrument at faiue@nd the loss or gain on the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk are recognised idiately in net profit or loss for the period.

If a hedging relationship no longer meets the getéor hedge accounting, the cumulative
adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedgeth ite amortised to the statement of
comprehensive income based on a recalculated igHdaterest rate over the residual period
to maturity, unless the hedged item has been dgnésexd, in which case, it is released to the
statement of comprehensive income immediately.

Hedge effectiveness testing

To qualify for hedge accounting, the Group requitest at the inception of the hedge and
throughout its life, each hedge must be expectedbdohighly effective (prospective

effectiveness), and demonstrate actual effectivenestrospective effectiveness) on an
ongoing basis.

The documentation of each hedging relationship@atfiow the effectiveness of the hedge is
assessed. The method the Group adopts for assdesigg effectiveness will depend on its
risk management strategy.

For prospective effectiveness, the hedging instnimaust be expected to be highly effective
in offsetting changes in fair value attributablettie hedged risk during the period for which
the hedge is designated. For actual effectivertebs ichieved, the changes in fair value must
offset each other in the range of 80 per cent &t cent.

0, Derecognition of financial assets and liabilitie

The Group derecognises a financial asset whendhwgactual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or it transfers the rights teixecthe contractual cash flows on the financial
asset in a transaction in which substantially la# tisks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset are transferred. Any interest andferred financial assets that is created or
retained by the Group is recognised as a sepassét ar liability.

The Group derecognises a financial liability whsncontractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled or expire.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it fearsassets recognised on its statement of
financial position, but retains either all riskdarewards of the transferred assets or a portion
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of them. If all or substantially all risks and redg are retained, then the transferred assets are
not derecognised from the statement of financialtpm. Transfers of assets with retention of
all or substantially all risks and rewards inclufite,example repurchase transactions.

p, Offsetting financial assets and financial liabities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are efffand the net amount reported in the statement
of financial position when there is a legally erfegible right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basisealise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

g, Finance and operating leases

Agreements which transfer to counterparties sulisthnall the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of assets, but not necessaripl téte, are classified as finance leases. When
the Group is a lessor under finance leases the mis\due under the leases, after deduction of
unearned charges, are included in ‘Loans and aégatacbanks’ or ‘Loans and advances to
customers’ as appropriate. The finance income vab& is recognised in “Interest income”
over the periods of the leases so as to give aaunste of return on the net investment in the
leases.

When the Group is a lessee under finance leaseidbed assets are capitalised and included
in ‘Intangibles, property and equipment’ and theresponding liability to the lessor is
included in ‘Other liabilities and provisions’. Aneince lease and its corresponding liability
are recognised initially at the fair value of theset or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments. Finance charges payableeognised in “Interest expense” over
the period of the lease based on the interestimgikcit in the lease so as to give a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of takility.

All other leases are classified as operating leas#®n acting as lessor, the Group includes
the assets subject to operating leases in ‘Intéeggiproperty and equipment’ and accounts for
them accordingly. Impairment losses are recognigdtie extent that residual values are not
fully recoverable and the carrying value of the ipment is thereby impaired. When the
Group is the lessee, leased assets are not reedgmisthe statement of financial position.
Rentals payable and receivable under operatingedease accounted for on a straight-line
basis over the periods of the leases and are iedlud “Other operating income” and
“Operating expenses”, respectively.

r, Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinatdiabilities

Deposits, debt securities issued and subordin@bdities are the Group’s sources of debt
funding.

When the Group sells a financial asset and simedtasly enters into a “repo” or “stock
lending” agreement to repurchase the asset (onitasiasset) at a fixed price on a future date,
the arrangement is accounted for as a deposit, tlaadunderlying asset continues to be
recognised in the Group’s financial statements.

Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinabiities are initially measured at fair value
plus transaction costs, and subsequently meastrbeia amortised cost using the effective
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interest method, except for the items which aiahiiecognition are designated by the Group
to fair value through profit or loss category.

The Group carries some deposits, debt securitiésalordinated liabilities at fair value, with
fair value changes recognised immediately in prafitoss as described in accounting policy
(Note 3 k,).

s, Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a pasgént, the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated béfiaand it is probable that an outflow of

economic benefits will be required to settle thdigahion. Provisions are determined by

discounting the expected future cash flows at atgxerate that reflects current market

assessments of the time value of money and, whapeopriate, the risks specific to the

liability.

Contingent liabilities, which include certain guatees, are possible obligations that arise
from past events whose existence will be confirnmedy by the occurrence, or non-
occurrence, of one or more uncertain future eveotsvholly within the control of the Group,
and present obligation that arises from past evkuatsis not recognised, because it is not
probable that an outflow of resources embodyinghernoc benefits will be require to settle
the obligation, or the amount of the obligation mainbe measured with sufficient reliability.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in theaficial statements but are disclosed unless the
probability of settlement is remote.

t, Income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferredliexame tax is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income except to the extent theglates to items recognised directly in
equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the tax expected to be payable etietkable profit for the year, calculated using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by titke o the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previoasse

Deferred tax is provided using the financial pasitimethod, providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of asaetk liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purpbBsferred tax is not recognised for the
following temporary differences: the initial recagon of goodwill, the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities in a transaction that is adtusiness combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit, and differencestmetpto investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that they probably will not reverse in theekeeable future. Deferred tax is measured at
the tax rates that are expected to be appliededeimporary differences when they reverse,
based on the laws that have been enacted or stibsharenacted by the end of the reporting
period.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to thenéxtigat it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the assah de utilised. Deferred tax assets are
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reviewed at the end of each reporting period arde@duced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be s

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset wthey arise in the same entity and relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authaaityl when a legal right to offset exists in
the entity.

Deferred tax relating to fair value remeasureméravailable-for-sale investments which are
charged or credited directly to equity, is alsodies or charged directly to equity and is
subsequently recognised in the statement of corepedle income when the deferred fair
value gain or loss is recognised in the statemiecbmprehensive income.

u, Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all financial insents except for those classified as held for
trading and kept in trading book are recognisetniterest income’ and ‘Interest expense’ in
the statement of comprehensive income using thectefe interest method. The effective
interest method is a way of calculating the amedisost of a financial asset or a financial
liability (or groups of financial assets or finaalcliabilities) and of allocating the interest
income or interest expense over the relevant period

The effective interest rate is the rate that eyatigcounts the estimated future cash payments
and receipts through the expected life of the famgrasset or liability (or, where appropriate,
a shorter period) to the carrying amount of thariicial asset or liability. The effective interest
rate is established on initial recognition of tieahcial asset and liability and is not revised
subsequently. When calculating the effective irgerate, the Group estimates cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the finandémtrument but not future credit losses. The
calculation includes all amounts paid or receivgdhe Group that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate of a financial instrumeimi¢luding transaction costs and all other
premiums or discounts. Transaction costs are inengah costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financesled or liability.

Interest income is recognised on available-for-saleurities using the effective interest rate
method, calculated over the asset’'s expectedDifgédends are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income when the right to receive gayrhas been established.

Interest on impaired financial assets is calculdtgdpplying the original effective interest
rate of the financial asset to the carrying amasnteduced by any allowance for impairment.

v, Fees and commission

Fee and commission income is accounted for aswsllo

¢ income earned on the execution of a significanisactcognised as revenue when the
act is completed (for example the arrangementHeracquisition of shares or other
securities);

¢ income earned from the provision of services i®gaised as revenue as the services
are provided (for example asset management anitedees); and

* income that are integral to the effective interag on a financial asset or liability are
included in the measurement of the effective irgierate (for example, certain loan
commitment fees).
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w, Other income

Other income comprises gains less losses relatettatbng and investment assets and
liabilities, and includes all realised and unrealidair value changes, interest, dividends and
foreign exchange differences.

X, Dividends

Dividend income is recognised when the right tenee income is established. Usually this is
the ex-dividend date for equity securities.

y, Employee benefits

The Group operates a staff pension scheme thaifigaals a defined contribution plan under
IFRS. All of the Group's employees are entitleghamticipate in this plan and the majority of

employees have elected to join. Assets of thisneeficontribution plan are managed

separately from the Group.

Payments to the defined contribution plan and steieaged retirement benefit plans, where
the Group’s obligations under the plans are eqeivato a defined contribution plan, are

charged as an expense as they fall due.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measure an undiscounted basis and are
expensed as the related service is provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expectetteé paid under short-term cash bonus if
the Group has a present legal or constructive atitig to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee and the obligateombe estimated reliably.

z, Segment reporting

MKB formed its reporting segments in line with IFBRSOperating Segments” which requires
operating segments to be identified on the basistefnal reports about components of the
entity that are regularly reviewed by the chief @pieag decision-maker, in order to allocate
resources to a segment and to assess its perfagmanc

A segment is a distinguishable component of theu@nhat is engaged either in providing
products or services (business segment), or inigirey products or services within a
particular economic environment (geographical sedmewhich is subject to risks and
rewards that are different from those of other sags

Segment revenue, segment expense, segment assedsgament liabilities are determined as
those that are directly attributable or can becalled to a segment on a reasonable basis,
including factors such as the nature of items, ¢baducted activities and the relative
autonomy of the unit. The Group allocates segmevernrue and segment expense through an
inter-segment pricing process. These allocatioescanducted on arm’s length terms and
conditions. Please find further details on segmemorting in Note 29.
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aa, Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of eaicthe Group’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environmentwhich the entity operates (‘the
functional currency’).

Transactions in foreign currencies are translatedhée respective functional currencies of
Group entities at exchange rates at the datesdfahsactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the end ofrépmrting period are retranslated to the
functional currency at the exchange rate at th&. dehe foreign currency gain or loss on
monetary items is the difference between amortsest in the functional currency at the
beginning of the period, adjusted for effectiveehesst and payments during the period, and the
amortised cost in foreign currency translated atdlkchange rate at the end of the period.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominatddrnigign currencies that are measured at fair
value are retranslated to the functional currerictha exchange rate at the date that the fair
value was determined. Foreign currency differerasesng on retranslation are recognised in
profit or loss, except for differences arising ¢w tretranslation of available-for-sale equity
instruments.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations|uding goodwill and fair value adjustments

arising on acquisition and equity put options, temslated to HUF at exchange rates at the
end of the reporting period. The income and expe$doreign operations are translated to
HUF at exchange rates at the dates of the transactiForeign currency differences are

recognised directly in equity, in the Currency slation reserve. When a foreign operation is
disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant ambimthe foreign currency translation reserve is
transferred to profit or loss.

ab, Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that requireGtmip to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs becauspexified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a delrtuiment.

Financial guarantee liabilities are initially reciged at their fair value, and the initial fair
value is amortised over the life of the financialagantee. The guarantee liability is
subsequently carried at the higher of this amaitismount and the present value of any
expected payment (when a payment under the guardras become probable). Financial
guarantees are included within other liabilities.

ac, Share capital

Shares are classified as equity when there is ntramual obligation to deliver cash or other
financial assets to the holders. Incremental cdsesctly attributable to the issue of equity
instruments are presented in equity as a deduftbomthe proceeds, net of tax.

ad, Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings e gEPS) data for its ordinary shares.
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit osd attributable to ordinary shareholders of
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the Bank by the weighted average number of ordisagres outstanding during the period.
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profitoss attributable to ordinary shareholders
and the weighted average number of ordinary sharetanding for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. For further informatatrout basic and diluted EPS, please see Note
23.

ae, New standards and interpretations not yet adoptd

A number of new standards, amendments to standatiiterpretations are not yet effective
for the year ended 30 June 2013, and have not &gglred in preparing these consolidated
financial statements:

* IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (effective for annual periods beginning on or iafle
January 2015),

IFRS 9was issued as part of a wider project to replace 38. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies

the mixed measurement model and establishes twoapyi measurement categories for
financial assets: amortised cost and fair valuee Bhsis of classification depends on the
entity's business model and the contractual casih ¢haracteristics of the financial asset. The
guidance in IAS 39 on impairment of financial assahd hedge accounting continues to

apply.

IAS 39 will hold until outstanding parts of IFRSfifialised. The application of IFRS 9 might
have significant impact on the group financial etaent, the group will analyse the impact
after the adoption of the standard by EU.

* IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements’ adopted by the EU on 11 December 2012
(effective for annual periods beginning on or afteélanuary 2014),

The objective of IFRS 10 is to provide a single smlidation model that identifies control as
the basis for consolidation for all types of epstiIFRS 10 replaces IAS Zbnsolidated and
Separate Financial Statementnd Interpretation 12 of the Standing Interpretetio
Committee (SICXonsolidation—Special Purpose Entit{&C-12).

The adoption of the above presented new Standatddwwave no impact on the financial
statements.

¢ IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”, adopted by the EU on 11 December 2@af2ective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

IFRS 11 establishes principles for the financigloréing by parties to a joint arrangement, and
replaces IAS 3linterests in Joint Ventureand SIC-13Jointly Controlled Entities—Non-
monetary Contributions by Venturers

The adoption of the above presented new Standatddwwave no impact on the financial
statements.
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IFRS 12 “Disclosures of Interests in Other Entitie$, adopted by the EU on 11 December
2012 (effective for annual periods beginning on or aftelanuary 2014),

IFRS 12 combines, enhances and replaces the diselosquirements for subsidiaries, joint
arrangements, associates and unconsolidated sedctntities.

The adoption of the above presented new Standargl mesult in extended disclosure
requirements.

IAS 27 (revised in 2011) “Separate Financial Stateemts”, adopted by the EU on 11
December 201 geffective for annual periods beginning on or aftelanuary 2014),

The requirements relating to consolidated finansiatements are deleted and moved to IFRS
10 where appropriate. The accounting and disclosegeirements for separate financial
statements remain in IAS 27; the title is amendedséparate Financial Statementihe
remaining paragraphs are renumbered sequentibbyst¢ope is adjusted and other editorial
changes are made. The accounting and disclosureresgents remaining in IAS 27 (as
amended in 2011) are also updated to reflect tidaguoe in IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and
IAS 28 (as amended in 2011).

The adoption of the above presented Amendment wbaleé no significant impact on the
financial statements.

IAS 28 (revised in 2011) “Investments in Associatesnd Joint Ventures”, adopted by the
EU on 11 December 2012ffective for annual periods beginning on or aftetanuary 2014),

The adoption of the above presented Amendment wbaleé no significant impact on the
financial statements.

IAS 32 (Amendment) “Financial instruments: presentaion” - Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities, adopted by the EU on D8cember 2012 (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014),

On 16 December 2011, the International Accountingn@ards Board (IASB) published
amendments to International Accounting StandardS)jIA32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and e Liabilities. The IASB amended IAS
32 to provide additional guidance to reduce incstesit application of the standard in
practice.

The adoption of the above presented Amendment wbaleé no significant impact on the
financial statements.
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4 Risk management

Capital management

MKB Bank's strong capital background contributes its safety, promotes customer
confidence and helps the Bank to manage the negetfects on its profitability which come
from macroeconomic turbulences. MKB Bank’s polisya remain well capitalized in order to
provide adequate business flexibility and to suppisks associated with its activities. As
capital is a critical resource, it is actively mged by the Bank. The capital management
processes take into account the changes in baklrest and risk-adjusted assets, the capital
structure and the costs and availability of varidyises of capital, investment plans and
shareholder returns, while satisfying the requireim®f regulators, rating agencies, financial
markets and depositors. It requires active managewfeboth risk-weighted assets and the
capital base.

Domestic and international guidelines require tle@iBto maintain certain minimum capital-
to-asset ratios. These risk-based ratios are detednby allocating assets and specified off-
balance sheet instruments into 4 weighted categoviih higher levels of capital being
required for categories perceived as representiegter risk. Regulatory capital is divided
into Tier 1 Capital and Tier 2 Capital. In addititm retained earnings, the Bank may raise
regulatory capital by issuing several types of riitial instruments to the public. These
financial instruments are then classified as eiffier 1 or Tier 2, depending on the types of
conditions or covenants they place upon the issuer.

In June 2004, the Basel Committee on Banking Sigierv released its report entitled
“International Convergence of Capital Measurementl &apital Standards: A Revised
Framework” (Basel Il). The new framework is desidgrie more closely align regulatory
capital requirements with underlying risks by imlnoing substantive changes in the treatment
of credit risk. Moreover, an explicit new capitdiacge for operational risk has also been
introduced, as well as increased supervisory regiesvextended public disclosure needs.

The shareholders of the Bank are strongly committechaintain the capital adequacy and
take all necessary actions (capital increase, slifetted debt).

Tier 1 Capital includes securities with no fixedtordy date, such as ordinary shares. At June
30, 2013, as an actual figure of tierl capital@ieup had HUF 111.3 billion under Hungarian
Supervisory Regulation. In order that the Bankddaibty to keep the strong capital position in
the domestic market the owners have increased dftk yp capital with HUF 36.3 billion
which was completed in February, 2012. Due to tiseeiase of capital, the Bank has more
regulatory capital (HUF 173.4 billion) than it wais2012. At the end of June, 2013 the capital
adequacy ratio which was calculated according éoHbngarian Accounting Regulations was
10.82% (2012: 8.89%). The ratio did reach the mimmvalue which prescribed by law in an
expected measure (8%).

The owners have increased the paid up capital MUtk 36.3 billion which was completed on

21" of February, 2013.

Risk-weighted assets including operational and etarlsk decreased by 7.4% from 2012
(HUF 1,731.9 billion) and amounted to HUF 1,603idil besides 1% weakening of domestic
currency.

Risk legal limits defined by the Act CXIl of 1996n0Credit Institutions and Financial

Enterprises (Banking Act):

. Banking Act 79-80.8 large loan limit -> no excess

. Banking Act 83.8 investment limit -> no excess
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. Banking Act 85.8 total investment limit -> no exses

The CAR of Unionbankincreased to 12.89% from 12.37% of previous yeegllunder local
supervisory regulation. The regulatory capital Waf~ 23,155 million which was higher than
the previous year-end figure (HUF 21,758 millionjdo the decrease of deduction of specific
provisions for credit risk and the weakening of garian domestic currency.

Meanwhile the risk asset increased by 2% amourdedUF 179,625 million according to
local supervisory gap which could be explained bgakening of Bulgarian domestic
currency, increase of operational risk and maris&t wwhich was compensated the decrease of
credit risk due to the decreased of internal depodsKB and provision charge.

The CAR of Nextebanksignificantly increased to 26.56% from of previoresar-end level
18.12% according to supervisory local gap. The leggry capital was HUF 8,299 which was
higher than the previous year-end figure (HUF 6,60@lion) due to the weakening of
Romanian domestic currency and the capital incrgg®N 68 million), which was
compensated by the accumulated loss for the yeaanMhile the risk weighted asset
decreased by 14.3% amounted to HUF 31,251 milllomfHUF 36,467 million in 2012,
mainly thanks to the decrease of operational risk.

4.1

2013Q2 2012

Basel Il Basel Il
Share capital 145 250 108 936
Outstanding share capital 145 250 108 936
General reserves (13 462) 10 217
Intangible assets (20 501) (20 484)
Reserve for general banking risk - 1074
Tier 1: Net core capital 111 287 99 743
Considerable subordinated debt 55 644 49 872
Revaluation reserves 3 447 2353
Difference from capital consolidation 1 055 715
Tier 2: Supple mentary capital 60 146 52 940
Other deductions (110) (110)
Participations in financial institutions (1 498) (1 610)
Unused subordinated loan for market risk 3581 3048
Regulatory capital 173 406 154 01
Risk-weighted assets (RWA) 1351545 1454 927
Operational risk (OR) 184 275 219775
Market risk posttions (MR) 67 156 57 153
Total risk weighted assets (RWA +12.5*(MR+OR)) 160376 1731 855
Regulatory capital / Total assets 7,271% 5,97%
Capital adequacy ratio 11,29% 9,20%

Capital ade quacy ratio (including market risk)
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5 Loans and advances to banks

o
H

2013 2012
Current and clearing accounts 9 206 13 788
Money market placements 20 555 17 844
Loans and advances 4001 49 752
Less collective allowances for impairment (75) (68)

Loans and advances to banks 33 687 81 314

Callective allowances for impairment

Balance at 1 January (68) (131)
Impairment loss for the year:
Charge for the year (55) (49)
Reversal 438 100
At the end of period (75) (68

From the balance of Current and clearing accoutits; 4,105 million (2012: 3,559 million)
was due from a shareholder with a significant iefice and was granted at market rate.
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6 Trading assets

6.1
2013 2012
Cost Unrealised Book Cost Unrealised Book
result value result value
Debt and equity instruments
Government Treasury bills 10 489 11 10500 3086 9 3095
Government bonds 9878 214 10092 6785 319 7 104
Hungarian corporate sector bonds 2671 120 2791 2388 110 2498
Hungarian equities 168 - 168 207 - 207

Total debt and equity instruments 345 23551 12466

Derivative instruments by type

FX-based derivatives instruments - 2101 2101 - 4383 4383
Index-based derivative instruments - 13 13 - 14 14
Interest-based derivative instruments - 12842 12842 - 14978 14978
Options 2 304 (734) 1570 2304 (705) 1599
Total derivative instruments 2 304 14 222 16 526 2 304 786 20 974
Total trading assets 25510 1466 40077 14770 19 10833 874

7 Micro hedge derivative assets held for risk manament

Fair value hedges of interest rate risk

The Group uses interest rate swaps designatedrasfae hedges to hedge its exposure to
changes in the fair value of certain loans and ades Interest rate swaps are matched to
specific loans. (see Note 3 n,)

Other derivatives held for risk management

The Group uses other derivatives, not designatedjualifying hedge relationship, to manage
its exposure to foreign currency, interest ratelitggmarket and credit risks. The instruments
used include interest rate swaps, cross-curreneyeist rate swaps, forward contracts, and
options. The positive fair values of those deriedi are shown in the table above and the
negative fair values are presented in Note 16.
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8 Investments in securities

2013 2012

&
[EEY

Available-for-sale

Hungarian Government bonds 251 595 211 749
Hungarian corporate sector bonds 2760 2833
Foreign Government bonds - 13678
Foreign corporate sector bonds 622 922
Foreign equities - 86
Less specific allowances for impairment (38) (38)

Investment in securities 254 939 229 23(

Specific allowances for impairment

Balance at 1 January (38) (1 105)
Impairment loss for the year:
Charge for the year - (33)
Reversal - 878
Utilisation - 222
At the end of period (€15) (38)

At 30 June 2013, HUF 99,202 million (2012: HUF 225 million) from the total amount of
Investments in securities were pledged as collatiena stock exchange and credit card
transactions in the ordinary course of business.

The total revaluation effect excluding deferredesin equity comprises HUF 2,488illion
gain (2012: HUF 2,008nillion gain) and HUF NIL million deferred tax assend HUF 16
million deferred tax liability (2012: HUF NIL milbn deferred tax asset and HUF 16 million
deferred tax liability).

In 2013 HUF 592 million gain (2012: HUF 388 milligyain) was recognized in the income

statement relating to AFS securities, which is @assification from other comprehensive
income into profit or loss.
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9

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost

9.1
Specific allowances Collective allowances Carrying
Gross amount . . . .
for impairment for impairment amount

Corporate

Overdrafts 58 595 2492 311 55 792

Trading and industrial 242 856 22 045 993 219 818

Real estate 645 255 91 658 2071 551 526
Total corporate 946 706 116 195 3375 827 136
Small- and medium sized enterprises (SME)

Overdrafts 13 805 2924 86 10 795

Trading and industrial 128 654 64 339 341 63 974

Real estate 7 848 5219 7 2622

Credit card 6 008 409 46 5553
Total SME 156 315 72 891 480 82 944
Retail

Overdrafts 7 057 4 346 35 2676

Residental mortgage 410 927 31191 86 379 650

Credit card 18 260 642 34 17 584

Personal 1332 410 7 915

Employees 8223 34 - 8189

Trading and industrial 88 280 25923 229 62 128
Total retail 534 079 62 546 391 471 142
Loans and advances to customers 1 630701 251 632 4246 1 381 22
Assets from discountinued operations 225566 18 955 12753 193859

Gross amount

Specific allowances Collective allowances Carrying

amount

for impairment

for impairme nt

Corporate
Overdrafts 67 248 2138 458 64 652
Trading and industrial 314 602 25274 3482 285 846
Real estate 676 059 83 400 3179 589 480
Total corporate 1057 909 110 812 7119 939 978
Small- and medium sized enterprises (SME)
Overdrafts 26 960 5 005 114 21841
Trading and industrial 173 724 66 769 763 106 192
Real estate 16 505 7 482 10 9013
Credit card 6611 435 57 6119
Total SME 223 800 79 691 944 143 165
Retalil
Overdrafts 16 956 5317 41 11 598
Residental mortgage 462 618 30535 94 431 989
Credit card 18 540 659 29 17 852
Personal 1501 406 9 1086
Employees 9 369 23 3 9343
Trading and industrial 128 104 24 515 243 103 346
Total retail 637 088 61 455 419 575214
Loans and advances to customers 1 91877 251 958 8482 165835
Assets from discountinued operations 39 697 11091 816 27 790

Collective impairment contains incurred but notared loss.

31/67



MKB Bank Zrt.

Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Consolidated Financial Statements as at June 3@, 20

Allowances for impairment

2013.06.30 2012.12.3

©
[V

Specific allowances for impairment on loans and advances to customers

Balance at 1 January 251 958 242 350
Impairment loss for the year:
Charge for the year 44 223 104 146
Reversal (17 879) (28 509)
Utilisation (13 889) (43 885)
Recoveries 17 8 538

Effect of foreign currency movements 806 (8 479)
Unwinding of discount (4 188) (8 728)
Discontinued operation (9 399) (4 937)

At the end of period 251632 251 95§

Callective allowances for impairment on loans and advances to customers

Balance at 1 January 8 483 6 924
Impairment loss for the year:
Charge for the year 797 23 880
Reversal (2 904) (3347)
Utilisation (10) (18 530)
Effect of foreign currency movements (8) (339)
Discontinued operation (2 112) (105)
At the end of period 4 246 8 48

At 30 June 2013 the carrying amount of loans desgghas hedged item in a fair value hedge

relationship was HUF 2,750 million, while their arised cost amounted to HUF 2,682
million.
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10 Other assets

10.1
2013 2012

Prepayments and other debtors 9193 8638
Inventory 529 755
Collaterals held in possession 8571 7569
Corporate income tax refundable 10 81
Other taxes refundable 299 357
Specific allowances for impairment (1372) (1 324)

Other assets 17 230 16 074

Specific allowances for impairment

Balance at 1 January (1324) (2909)
Impairment loss for the year:
Charge for the year 99 (526)
Reversal (146) -
Utilization - 2124
Effect of foreign currency movements (D] (13)
At the end of period (1372) (132

At 30 June 2013, the net carrying amount of nomrent assets, which have been acquired
through enforcement of security over loans and ades amounted to HUF 10,118 million
(2012: HUF 6,251). The disclosed specific allowancentain mainly the relating impairment.

11 Investments in jointly controlled entities and asociates

2013 2012
Cost 14175 13629
Goodwill arising on acquisition 1528 1528
Goodwill impairment (1528) (1528)
Share of post acquisition reserves (4 92914 415)

Investments in jointly controlled entities and assoiates 7718 7686
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12

Intangibles, property and equipment

121
2013 Intangible  Freehold Investment Equipment Total
assets property  property

Cost

Balance at 1 January 46 955 49 569 3 247 30288 130059
Acquisttions through business combinations 20 - - 79 99
Additions — including internally developed 2 469 298 - 686 3453
Other additions 471 471
Disposals (2392) (255) - (3031) (5678)
Effect of movements in exchange rates - 3 - 2 5

Balance at 30 June 49 615 3718 28 024 128 404

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 27862 9394 - 20569 57825
Acquisttions through business combinations 10 - - 69 79
Depreciation and amortization for the year 1344 818 - 1250 3412
Impairment loss - 20 - 42 62
Disposals (676) (303) - (2250) (3229

Effect of movements in exchange rates - 2 - - 2
Balance at 30 June 28 540 9931 - 19680 58 15

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 19 093 40 175 - 9719 72234

Balance at 30 June 18 512 39 684 3718 8 344 70 25§
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Intangible  Freehold Investment

2012 Equipment Total
asset property  property

Cost

Balance at 1 January 49310 49909 - 32653 131872
Additions — including internally developed 3593 2414 - 1354 7 361
Other additions - 3247 - 3247
Disposals (5 876) (2 746) - (3527) (12 149)
Effect of movements in exchange rates (72) (8) - (192) (272)

Balance at 31 December 46 955 49 569 3247 30 288130 059

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 26430 8639 - 19885 54954
Depreciation and amortization for the year 2973 1658 - 2960 7 591
Impairment loss 3482 767 - 1140 5389
Disposals (5 002) (1 668) - (3292) (9962)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 21 2 - 124 147)

Balance at 31 December 27 862 9394 - 20569 57 824

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 22 880 41270 - 12768 76918

Balance at 31 December 19 093 40 175 3 247 9719 72 234

Depreciation and amortization is presented amoe@perating expenses.

In December, 2012 the Group acquired a hotel fwestment purpose and entered in
operating lease as a lessor. The Group intend Ith thes property to earn rentals and for
capital appreciation. During 2013 the Group acqlisdso an office building held for

investment purpose.

The fair value of the investment in the hotel wa$HB,247 million and in the office building
HUF 452 million, which is based on a valuation by iadependent valuer, who holds a
recognized and relevant professional qualificatind experiences.

Based on the Group Accounting policies investmenperties are measured at using Cost
model. (see Note 3.e) The reconciliation of theyiag amount at the beginning and end of
period is disclosed in Table 12.1.
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13  Amounts due to other banks

131

2013 2012
Due on demand 2 262 2194
Money market deposits 213126 368 667
Borrowings 193 210 303 355

Amounts due to other banks 408 598 674 214

14  Deposits and current accounts

141
2013 2012

From corporate clients 474510 591 974
From retail clients 755 938 797 063

Deposits and current accounts 12304481 389 03

As at 30 June 2013, from the amount of current depbsit accounts, HUF 38,498 million
(2012: HUF 34,238nillion) has been measured as a fair value thrqargfit or loss.

15  Trading liabilities

151

2013 2012

Cost Unrealised Book Cost Unrealised Book
result value result value

Derivative instruments by type

FX-based derivatives instruments - 6 645 6 645 - 3520 3520
Index-based derivative instruments - 7 7 - 4 4
Interest-based derivative instruments - 12581 12581 - 14931 14931
Credit default swaps 52 272 324 52 323 375
Options 193 310 503 99 2 906 3005
Total derivative instruments 245 19815 20060 151 21684 21835

Total trading liabilities
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16

17

Derivative liabilities held for risk management

16.1

2013 2012
Accumulated Accumulate d

. Book Cost ) Book
unrealised unrealised
value value
result result

Interest-based derivative instruments - 106 106 - 214 214

Derivatives held for risk manage ment

The Bank designates Interest Rate Swaps as heugingments for hedging interest risks.

For more information see Note 7. The group hasash dlow hedges.

Other liabilities and provision

17.1

2013 2012
Accruals and other creditors 21 237 16830
Corporate income tax payable 2 -
Other taxes payable 6 483 1374
Provision for contingencies and commitments 3255 9303

Other liabilities and provisions 30977 2750
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Provision for contingencies and commitments

17.2
2013 2012

Balance at 1 January 9142 7723
Provisions set up during the year 1067 7253
Provisions reversed during the year (6 948)5 662)
Effect of foreign currency movements 16 (172
Discontinued operations (48) -

At the end of period 3229 9 1472

Provisions recognized for different type of produate disclosed in Note 24.
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18 Issued debt securities

During the reporting period MKB issued bonds fopport its business activity. The table
below shows the new issuance, repayment and dtlaeiges during the year:

18.1

Interest

Issued debt
securities

Original Carrying amount

Repurchased Repaid debt

currency  31.12.2012 debt securities  securities

Revaluation
result

Carrying amount
30.06.2013

Zero Coupon Bond 6 899 4271 788 (8 500) 128 3 586
EUR 158 1771 655 - 7 2591
HUF 6 741 2500 133 (8 500) 121 995
Fixed rate 34 257 13133 2610 (8 895) 412 41 517
EUR 20 274 10 656 49 (3183) 271 28 067
HUF 8301 572 2692 (5712) 5 5858
uUsb 5682 1905 (131) - 136 7592
Structured 21143 7 880 937 (11 612) 275 18 623
EUR 12 477 763 654 (5 198) 367 9063
HUF 8 666 6 022 283 (6 414) (115) 8 442
usbD - 1095 - - 23 1118
Floating rate 101 264 23500 (2921) - 13 121 856
HUF 101 264 23500 (2 921) - 13 121 856
Accrued interest 2 255 - - - - 2267
Total 165 818 48478 1414 (29 007) 828 187 84
- Original Carrying amount Issued debt Repurchased Repaid debt Revaluation Carrying amount
curency  31.12.2011 securities debt securities  securities result 31.12.2012
Zero Coupon Bond 27 117 18 165 (515) (37 863) (6) 6 898
EUR 1188 1165 (936) (1 165) (87) 165
HUF 25929 17 000 421 (36 698) 81 6733
Fixed rate 46 410 21 097 3678 (35 529) (1398) 34 258
EUR 18 252 10133 1988 (8794) (1304) 20 275
HUF 26 929 5279 1691 (25 607) 9 8301
usb 1229 5685 1) (1128) (103) 5682
Structured 23011 6 450 (907) (8 076) 654 21132
EUR 10 449 3162 (885) - (253) 12 473
HUF 12 562 3288 (22) (8 076) 907 8659
Floating rate 67 133 47 108 7 505 (20 470) (1) 101 275
HUF 67 133 47 108 7 505 (20 470) 1 101 275
Accrued interest 2815 - - - - 2320
Unionbank 4 659 - - - - 4363
Total 171 145 92@B2 9761 (101 938) (751) 170 24
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19

20

The opening figure for the year differs from thesthg balance as of 31.12.2012 (HUF 4,428
million), because MKB Unionbank AD. is discloseddiscontinued operation this year. Due
to this fact debt instruments of MKB Unionbank Aere reclassified to another financial

position.

The Group use fair value revaluation through profitoss for structured bonds, as they are
related to assets, which share the same risk ihatige to opposite changes in fair value. At
30 June 2013 the carrying amount of FVTPL own idshends amounted to HUF 18,751

million (2012: HUF 21,364 million).

Share capital and share premium

The Bank’s authorised, issued, called up and fpdlid share capital comprises 145,249,994
(2012: 108,936,494) ordinary shares of HUF — 1,@@2: HUF 1,000) each. All issued
shares rank pari passu in the event of a winding up

During 2013, the shareholders increased the Bastidse capital by HUF 36,313.500 million
with nominal amount HUF 1,000 per share at thegpoicHUF 1,000.

Reserves

Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve comprises alligorexchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreigerations.

Share premium

Share premium comprises of premiums on share t#gsteances.

Retained Earnings

Retained earnings comprise the accumulated priéit gaxes earned in the course of the
operating life of an entity of the Group less aryidknd payment. The Group includes
entities which employees have dividend prefererdtares, which do not enable them to
exercise any owner’s right. Dividend payment foest shares decreases the Retained
Earnings of the Group, in 2013 there were NIL divid payments.

There is no available Retained Earnings for digtrdm for the parent of the holding company.

General reserve

According to the Act on Credit Institutions and &imcial Enterprises (Banking Act), banks
shall set aside as general reserve 10% of Pradit tfxation. Dividends can be paid only after
recognition of general reserve. This reserve carutilzed only for losses derived from

ordinary activity. Credit institution can reclagsipart or total of its retained earnings into
general reserve. Supervisory authority can alloe #mtity not to set aside the amount
calculated as above stated.
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The Group discloses general reserve as part aheet@arnings. In 2013 MKB recognized as
general reserve of NIL (2012: NIL).

General reserve set aside by foreign entities d@dién Romania amounted to HUF 1,558
million (2012: HUF 1,544 million). In 2013 there weeNIL (2012: NIL) general reserve
recognized. In Bulgaria there was NIL general neseecognized.

Revaluation reserves
A/ Revaluation on AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets’ revaluation reserve incluthescumulative net change in the fair value
of available - for - sale investments until thedatment is derecognized or impaired.

B / Revaluation of equity put option

Equity put option’s revaluation reserve includemaiative net change in fair value excluding
gains or losses from currency translation of anyitggput an option which gives a right to the
non-controlling interest to sell its shares withramium.

This separated reserve contains equity put optiaron-controlling interest (NCI) which has
a right to call this option at any time. The prafepurchase is calculated by using a multiplier
on the net asset value in 2009 and interest payoreetch capital injection from 2009. The
fair value of the option is calculating by purchgs&e on the reporting day less NCI's net
asset value.

On 2 July, 2012 EBRD exercised half of its option $elling its shares in MKB Unionbank
A.D. Due to the transaction MKB acquired additioaiee percentage interest in MKB
Unionbank A.D. so MKB shares increased to 97%. Tigigsaction resulted a reclassification
between the Revaluation of equity put option antiRed earnings in an amount of HUF
2,189 million.

On 21 May, 2013 EBRD exercised the remaining péitsooption, and sold its shares in
MKB Unionbank A.D. MKB Bank shares increased to #@ue to this transaction. This
transaction resulted a reclassification between Resaluation of equity put option and
Retained earnings in an amount of HUF 2,379 million
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21  Impairments and provisions for losses

211

Note 2013 2012

Impairment loss, net of reversals on

Loans and advances to banks 5 7 (27)

Loans and advances to customers 9 24 237 18 226

Investments in securities 8 - (796)

Other assets 10 (47) 149

Direct write off 2812 922
Provision on

Guarantees and contingencies 17 (5880) (1899

Impairments and provisions for losses 165

22 Income tax

Income tax expense recognized in the Statement ob@prehensive Income

221
2013 2012

Current tax expense 131 279
Hungarian corporation tax charge — on current ypeafit 131 279
Deferred tax expense/(income) 106 (16)
Income tax (credit) / expenses 237 26

In the reporting period 10% current income tax ighelied under HUF 500 million taxable
profit and 19% tax rate above this amount in HupgBue to this calculation method 10%
current income tax rate applied in the Hungariarrketaas current income tax rate, and
18.76% deferred tax rate was calculated basedsery&ars plans.
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23

24

In Romania, the current income tax rate for 2018 W&% (2012: 16%) and the deferred tax
rate used was the same. In Bulgaria, the curreanie tax rate for 2013 was 10% (2012:
10%), and the deferred tax rate is the same.

Earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share at @&@e J2013 was based on the profit
attributable to ordinary shareholders of HUF -33,idillion (2012: HUF -19,471 million) and

a weighted average number of ordinary shares aulistg of 94.935 million (2012: 27.136
million)

The calculation of fully diluted earnings per shavas based on the profit attributable to
ordinary shareholders and the weighted average auwnibordinary shares outstanding after
any adjustment for the effects of all dilutive putel ordinary shares. In 2013 and 2012 there
were no dilution factor that might cause an adjestirin the weighted average number of
ordinary shares, therefore basic and diluted ER$ eguivalent.

Contingencies and commitments

24.1

2013 Gross Provision Net
Contingencies
Guarantees and similar obligations 102 738 1163 1615
Obligations from letters of credit and other short
term trade related itet 2763 17 2746
Other contingent liablities (including litigation) 32 650 3672
Total contingencies 109 823 1830 107 9
Commitments
Undrawn commitments to extend credit 211 415 1425 9219

209 94

211 415

1425

Total commitme nts
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2012 Gross Provision Net
Contingencies
Guarantees and similar obligations 128 127 1718 026 4
Obligations from letters of credit and other short
term trade related itet 8 6388 65 8 623
Other contingent liablities (including litigation) 0D78 4 986 5092
Total contingencies 146 893 6 769 140 1
Commitments
Undrawn commitments to extend credit 219 345 2534 16
Total commitme nts 219 345 2534 2168

From discontinued operation:

2013 Gross Provision Net
Contingencies
Guarantees and similar obligations 10 078 60 10018
Obligations from letters of credit and other short
term trade related items 190 - 190
Other contingent liablities (including litigation) 63 362 -
Total contingencies 10 630 422 10 24
Commitments
Undrawn commitments to extend credit 20 275 16 20259
Total commitme nts 20 275 16 20 2
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25

2012 Gross Provision Net
Contingencies
Guarantees and similar obligations 1204 - 1204
Other contingent liablities (including litigation) 13 413 -
Total contingencies 1617 413 1 2(
Commitments
Undrawn commitments to extend credit 2 489 - 2489
Total commitme nts 2 489 - 2 44

Concerning contingencies and commitments net amsametdisclosed in the table.

Use of estimates and judgements

Management discusses with the Group Supervisorydtae development, selection and
disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting piglgcand estimates, and the application of
these policies and estimates.

These disclosures supplement the commentary ondialaisk management (see Note 4).

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Allowances for credit losses

Assets accounted for at amortised cost are evaluateimpairment on a basis described in
accounting policy (see Note 3 i).

The specific counterparty component of the totdbvednces for impairment applies to
financial assets evaluated individually for impagmh and is based upon management’s best
estimate of the present value of the cash flowsdhaexpected to be received. In estimating
these cash flows, management makes judgements aboutnterparty’s financial situation
and the net realisable value of any underlyingatethl. Each impaired asset is assessed on its
merits, and the workout strategy and estimate oh cfiows considered recoverable are
independently approved by the Credit Risk function.

Collectively assessed impairment allowances coraitlosses inherent in portfolios of loans
and advances with similar credit risk charactersstivhen there is objective evidence to
suggest that they contain impaired loans and adgiat the individual impaired items
cannot yet be identified. In assessing the needcddective loss allowances, management
considers factors such as credit quality, portfelie, concentrations and economic factors. In
order to estimate the required allowance, assumptase made to define the way inherent
losses are modelled and to determine the requmpdtiparameters, based on historical
experience and current economic conditions. Theracy of the allowances depends on the
estimates of future cash flows for specific coumdety allowances and the model assumptions
and parameters used in determining collective almes.

45/67



MKB Bank Zrt. Data in HUF million except stated otherwise
Consolidated Financial Statements as at June 3@, 20

Uncertain or unanticipated future events could ltaaumaterial adjustments to provisions or
additional provisions. The accounting values deteech are not fair values or market prices
that might be determined if the underlying asse¢ssald to a third party.

I mpairment test of Goodwill

The recoverable amount of each cash-generating tiaite been calculated based on their
value in use.

Value in use has been calculated by discountingfuhge cash flows generated from the
continuing operation of the cash generating unjteBtimating the expected future cash-flows
from operation, the Group used its own method. dlaes assigned to the key assumptions
represent management’s assessment of future tiente Bulgarian, Romanian banking
industry and in the Hungarian leasing industry anel based on both external sources and
internal sources (historical data). Should MKB as# strategy on a market, expected selling
price is also taken into account by calculatinga$h flows. Due to the total impairment of
Goodwill in 2011, this paragraph was not applied.

Determining fair values

The determination of fair value for financial asseind liabilities for which there is no
observable market price requires the use of valnagchniques as described in accounting
policy. For financial instruments that trade infueqtly and have little price transparency, fair
value is less objective, and requires varying degref judgement depending on liquidity,
concentration, uncertainty of market factors, mgcassumptions and other risks affecting the
specific instrument. See also “Valuation of finahénstruments” below.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Groyp’s accounting policies
Critical accounting judgements made in applying@meup’s accounting policies include:
Valuation of financial instruments

The Group’s accounting policy on fair value measwsts is discussed under Note 3.
The Group measures fair values using the follovhiiegarchy of methods:

« Quoted market price in an active market for antidahinstrument.

« Valuation techniques based on observable inputis. ddtegory includes instruments
valued using: quoted market prices in active market similar instruments; quoted
prices for similar instruments in markets that evasidered less than active; or other
valuation techniques where all significant inputs directly or indirectly observable
from market data.

« Valuation techniques using significant unobservafyeits. This category includes all
instruments where the valuation technique includesits not based on observable
data and the unobservable inputs could have afisigmi effect on the instrument’s
valuation. This category includes instruments trat valued based on quoted prices
for similar instruments where significant unobséteaadjustments or assumptions are
required to reflect differences between the inseuis.
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Fair values of financial assets and financial liibs that are traded in active markets are
based on quoted market prices or dealer price tionsa For all other financial instruments
the Group determines fair values using valuatiechriéues. Valuation techniques include net
present value and discounted cash flow models, adsgn to similar instruments for which
market observable prices exist, Black-Scholes ahghpmial option pricing models and other
valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used lnatimn techniques include risk-free and
benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and giteenia used in estimating discount rates,
bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchargest equity and equity index prices and
expected price volatilities and correlations. Ceuparty risk (CVA) and own credit risk
(DVA) is also taken into account by calculatiorfaif value except of the followings:

1. Netting of NPVs to counterparty level is allowedyoim case of International Swaps and

Derivatives Association (ISDA) agreement is avdéab

2. If the partners have Credit Support Annex (CSA)tfe derivative then both CVA and
DVA are 0.

3. If the contract covered by collateral then CVA=0.

The objective of valuation techniques is to ardve fair value determination that reflects the
price of the financial instrument at the end of teeorting period that would have been
determined by market participants acting at arergth.

The Group uses widely recognised valuation modelslétermining the fair value of common
and more simple financial instruments, like intenege and currency swaps that use only
observable market data and require little manageimelgement and estimation. Observable
prices and model inputs are usually available ie tharket for listed debt and equity
securities, exchange traded derivatives and simopée the counter derivatives like interest
rate swaps. Availability of observable market mi@@d model inputs reduces the need for
management judgement and estimation and also redinee uncertainty associated with
determination of fair values. Availability of obsable market prices and inputs varies
depending on the products and markets and is gmobanges based on specific events and
general conditions in the financial markets.

For more complex instruments, the Group uses et valuation models, which usually
are developed from recognised valuation models.eSomall of the significant inputs into
these models may not be observable in the mankdtaee derived from market prices or rates
or are estimated based on assumptions. Examplensifuinents involving significant
unobservable inputs includes certain over the @usituctured derivatives and certain loans
and securities for which there is no active mark@tiuation models that employ significant
unobservable inputs require a higher degree of gemant judgement and estimation in
determination of fair value. Management judgemertt astimation are usually required for
selection of the appropriate valuation model taibed, determination of expected future cash
flows on the financial instrument being valued,edetination of probability of counterparty
default and prepayments and selection of appr@pdcount rates.

The Group discloses the fair value of Equity putiayp of the non-controlling interest using
valuation techniques with significant unobservabilputs. Equity put options are initially
recognized in a separated equity element and theeguent measurement is at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

In the current pressed market environment thereoisactive market for selling financial
institutions and no observable inputs are avail&ehe fair value measurement of this kind
of option, the valuation is based on contractuahte The price of purchase is calculated by
using a multiplicator on the net asset value in®2@@d interest payment on each capital
injection from 2009. The fair value of the optios ¢alculating by purchase price on the
reporting day less NCI's net asset value.
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The table below analyses financial instrumentsieduat fair value, by valuation method:

251

Valuation techniques -
significant unobservable  Total
inputs

Quoted market prices Valuation techniques

Note

in active markets - observable inputs

30 June 2013

Cash reserves 260 893 - - 260 893
Trading assets 6 23 746 16 331 - 40 077
Investments in securities 8 254 939 - 254 939
Current and deposit accounts 14 - 38 498 - 38 498
Trading liabilties 15 359 19 701 - 20 060
Derivative liabilties held for risk management 16 - 106 - 106
Issued debt securities 18 - 18 751 - 18 751
Total 539 937 93 387 - 633 324

31 December 2012

Cash reserves 335 454 - - 335454
Trading assets 6 12 991 20 887 - 33878
Investments in securities 8 229 230 - 229 230
Current and deposit accounts 14 - 34 238 - 34 238
Trading liabilties 15 95 19511 2229 21835
Derivative liabilties held for risk management 16 - 214 - 214
Issued debt securities 18 - 21 364 - 21 364
Total 577770 96 214 2229 676 213

The Group did not reclassify any instrument frone oevaluation hierarchy level into another
during the reporting period.

As part of its trading activities the Group enter® OTC structured derivatives, primarily
options indexed to equity prices, foreign excharages and interest rates, with customers and
other banks. Some of these instruments are valsied models with significant unobservable
inputs, principally expected long-term volatilitiaad expected correlations between different
asset prices or foreign currency exchange raléese inputs are estimated based on
extrapolation from observable shorter-term volai, recent transaction prices, quotes from
other market participants and historical data.

In determining fair values, the Group does not aerages of reasonably possible alternative
inputs as averages may not represent a price ahvehiransaction would take place between
market participants on the measurement date. Wkermative assumptions are available within
a wide range, judgements exercised in selectingnibst appropriate point in the range include
evaluation of the quality of the sources of infiis example, the experience and expertise of the
brokers providing different quotes within a rangejing greater weight to a quote from the
original broker of the instrument who has the naegailed information about the instrument) and
the availability of corroborating evidence in redpaf some inputs within the range.

Nature and extent of exposure to risks arising ffimancial instruments:
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26

25.2

Note Interest RO ST Other

rate

30 June 2013
Cash reserves 260 893 - -
Trading assets 6 39 056 2332 1020
Investments in securities 8 254 350 26 506 590
Current and deposit accounts 14 38 498 1599 40098
Trading liabilties 15 12 762 6 800 498
Derivative liabiities held for risk management 16 106 - -
Issued debt securities 18 18 751 10219
Total 624 416 47 456 42 206
31 December 2012
Cash reserves 335 454 - -
Trading assets 6 26 174 4527 767
Investments in securities 8 214 577 33567 -
Current and deposit accounts 14 34238 1586 -
Trading liabilities 15 15529 3561 2739
Derivative liabiities held for risk management 16 214 - -
Issued debt securities 18 21 364 12 542
Total 647 550 55783 3506

The table above presents the major risks and tloeireis of fair value of financial instruments.
Each financial instrument is reported at fair vadunel categorized based on all the risk factors
which they are exposed to. Most type of finanaiatriuments are exposed to more than one risk,
therefore fair values of those instruments areuthedi in all relevant columns, resulting that the
sum of total exposures by line may not be equéiidaelevant lines in the SFP.

Accounting classifications and fair values

The estimated fair values disclosed below are dasggl to approximate values at which these
instruments could be exchanged in an arm’s lengdhstction. However, many of the
financial instruments have no active market andefloee, fair values are based on estimates
using net present value and other valuation teciasigsee Note 3 g, and Note 25), which are
significantly affected by the assumptions used fo& amount and timing of the estimated
future cash flows and discount rates. In many cagesould not be possible to realise
immediately the estimated fair values given the sizthe portfolios measured.

The table below sets out the carrying amounts airdvélues of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities:
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26.1

Financial assets

Fair
value Other

. Total
amortised

carrying amount

Loans and Available

. Fair value
receivables for sale

through
profit or cost
loss

Cash reserves - - 260 893 24 244 285 137 285 137
Loans and advances to banks 5 - 33687 - - 33687 39 199
Measured at amortised cost - 33687 - - 33687 39199
Trading assets 6 40 077 - - - 40 077 40 077
Investments in securities 8 - - 254 939 254 939 254 939
Loans and advances to customers 9 - 1381222 - - 1381222 1371231
Measured at fair value - 2 750 - - 2750 2750
Measured at amortised cost - 1378472 - - 1378472 1368 481
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to other banks 13 - - - 408 598 408 598 382 760
Current and deposit accounts 14 38 498 - - 1191950 1230 448 1245 429
Measured at fair value 38 498 - - - 38498 38498
Measured at amortised cost - - - 1191950 1191 950 1206 931
Trading liabilities 15 20 060 - - - 20 060 20 060
Derivative liabiities held for risk management 16 106 - - - 106 106
Issued debt securities 18 18 750 - - 169 099 187 849 184 283
Measured at fair value 18 750 - - - 18 750 18 750
Measured at amortised cost - - - 169 099 169 099 165 532
Subordinated debt - - - 102 219 102 219 100 552

Financial assets

Fair
UL Loans and Available itz

) Total
. amortised
receivables for sale

. Fair value
carrying amount

through
profit or cost
loss

Cash reserves - - 335454 78 336 413 790 413 790
Loans and advances to banks 5 - 81 316 - - 81 316 80 752
Measured at amortised cost - 81 316 - - 81 316 80 752
Trading assets 6 33878 - - - 33878 33878
Investments in securities 8 - - 229 230 229 230 229 230
Loans and advances to customers 9 - 1658 357 - - 1658 357 1565 290
Measured at fair value - 2766 - - 2766 2 766
Measured at amortised cost - 1655591 - - 1655591 1562 524
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to other banks 13 - - - 674 216 674 216 654 462
Current and deposit accounts 14 34 238 - - 1354799 1389 037 1438 382
Measured at fair value 34 238 - - - 34 238 34 238
Measured at amortised cost - - - 1354799 1354 799 1404143
Trading liabilties 15 21835 - - - 21835 21835
Derivative liabilities held for risk management 16 214 - - - 214 214
Issued debt securities 18 21364 - - 148 882 170 246 177 803
Measured at fair value 21 364 - - - 21 364 21 364
Measured at amortised cost - - - 148 882 148 882 156 439
Subordinated debt - - - 101 642 101 642 103 826

The methods and, when a valuation technique is, tkedassumptions applied in determining
fair values of financial instruments were as follow
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Cash reserves,

Due to the short term nature, the carrying amountCash reserves is a reasonable
approximation of their fair value.

Trading assets and liabilities and Derivative assets and liabilities held for risk
management

Fair values of Trading assets and liabilities an@r®hedge derivative assets and liabilities
held for risk management that are traded in actigekets are based on quoted market prices
or dealer price quotations. For all other finanaigtruments the Group determines fair values
using valuation techniques.

Investmentsin securities

The fair values of instruments grouped into Invesita in securities are based on quoted
market prices, when available. If quoted marketgsiare not available, fair value is estimated
using quoted market prices of similar securities. farther information, please refer to Note
8.

Loans and advances to banks and to customers

The fair value of loans and advances is based aereable market transactions, where
available. In the absence of observable markesae@ions, fair value is estimated using net
present value techniques, discounted cash flow lmoBerforming loans are grouped, as far
as possible, into homogeneous pools segregatetblyqi types and coupon rates. In general,
contractual cash flows are discounted using awdiieh is the available interest rate which
would have been offered if the customer appliedidan at the end of the reporting period
plus the counterparty marge which reflects theviidial credit risk of that partner. The used
interest rates are available in published Terms @odditions as of 30 June, 2013 and the
counterparty marge is available in the Bank’'s systeThe rediscounted cash flows are
decreased using by the same impairment percentadenas used for impairment purpose,
and it is considered as fair value of the loan fpba. Non-performing loans which are
assessed for impairment individually are discoumigl discount factors which are calculated
as in case of performing loans, but that estimagsh flows of these loans are used for
calculation, which was also used for impairmenfppse. In the case of work-out loans where
the bank expects cash flows only from sale of tetids and therefore they are impaired to the
net present value of this amount, the fair valuexisal with the carrying amount.

The fair value of a Loans and advances to bankd¢andstomers on demand is assumed to be
the amount receivable at the end of the reportérgpg.

Amounts due to other banks and Current and deposit accounts

For the purposes of estimating fair value, Amoutus to other banks and Current and deposit
accounts are grouped by residual maturity. Faiueslare estimated using discounted cash
flows, applying current rates offered for depositssimilar remaining maturities plus MKB
own credit risk. For determining own credit risk\(R — Debit Value Adjustment) the bank
uses the own PD and LGD used also for risk purpesesh is also in line with the DVA
calculation method for negative fair value derivas. The fair value of a deposit repayable on
demand is assumed to be the amount payable on deah#ire end of the reporting period.
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I ssued debt securities and Subordinated debt

Fair values are determined using quoted markeépiat the end of the reporting period where
available, or by reference to quoted market prioesimilar instruments plus own credit risk.

27 Related parties

The Group’s related parties include the parent @mp associates, joint ventures, Key
Management Personnel, close family members of Keywdgement Personnel and entities
which are controlled, jointly controlled or sigmiéintly influenced, or for which significant
voting power is held, by Key Management Personnéh@ir close family members.

Transactions with related parties
Related parties have transacted with the Groumduhie period as follows:

271

Parent company ~ Non-consolidated  Jointly controlled Key Management  Other related

Associates

and its group subsidiaries entities Personnel parties

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013

Assets

Amounts due from other banks 26733 30284 - - - - - - - - - -
Loans and advances to customers - - 822 1694 41858 46 511 1311 646 227 206 1006 1155
Derivative financial assets 2355 4970 - - - - - - - - - -
Liabilities

Amounts due to other banks 321337 531371 - - - - - - - - - -
Current and deposit accounts 294 241 280 5092 276 322 959 622 - - 30703 21806
Subordinated debt 102219 101642 - - - - - - - - - -
Derivative finacial liabilties 16 202 15963

Income statement

Interest income: 2817 1288 51 89 964 1966 23 62 4 7 26 72
Interest expense 6309 17304 6 297 2 4 9 192 - 339 1031
Other net income / (expense) (905)  (5589) 2 24 17 24 82 188 (278)  (537) 27 34
Contingencies and commitments

Undrawn commitments to extend credit 2151 2150 76 343 2778 2900 196 189 - - 203 96
Guarantees 511 511 - - 135 134 - - - - 2111 2056
Provision 52 45 1265 687 3017 3444 5 6 - - 18 26

In order to decrease the credit risk BayernLB pitedi guarantee for some clients’ exposures
in an amount of HUF 59,790 million.

The amount outstanding from Key Management Perdoepeesents mortgages and secured
loans granted and these loans are secured ovesrpray the respective borrowers.

The above transactions with other than Key Manag¢ersonnel were made in the ordinary
course of business and on substantially the sammes téncluding interest rates and security, as
for comparable transactions with persons of a simitanding. The transactions did not
involve more than the normal risk of repayment i@spnt other unfavourable features.
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Impairment losses and provisions against balanecgstamding with related parties were
recognized during ordinary course of impairmenteassient. Incurred loss has been
recognized on balance sheet items and off balameet #ems with related parties which were
individually or collectively assessed and the resiulted NIL impairment at the end of the
period.

Key management personnel compensation for thegpbedmprised:

27.2

30.06.2013 30.06.201

Short-term employee benefits 278 1397

Total 278 139

28  Group entities

The subsidiaries and jointly controlled entitiedMB and their activities are as follows:

28.1

Percentage of Percentage of Country of

Brief description of activities

equity ownec voting rights incorporation
MKB-Euroleasing Autélizing Szolgaltaté Kift. 65,23% 50% Hungan  Car finance activit
MKB-Euroleasing Autéhitel Zrt. 71,75% 50% Hungan  Car and consumer finance activit
MKB-Euroleasing Autépark Zrt. 74,97% 50% Hungary  Caeflmanagement
MKB-Euroleasing Zrt. 50,98% 50% Hungary  Holding of Euroleasing group.
MKB Uzemeletési Kit. 100% 100% Hungary  Property operation and maintenance.
MKB Unionbank AD 100% 100% Bulgaria  Fully licenced commercial bank.
Nextebank S.A. 96,29% 96,29% Romanic  Fuly icenced commercial bar
MKB Romexterra Leasing IFN S.A. 97,57% 97,57% Romanic  Car and porperty leasing activ
S.C. Corporate Recovery Management S.R.L. 100% 100% Romanic  Claims buying/factoring activit
MKB Befektetési AlapkezélZrt. 100% 100% Hungary  Investment fund managementigcti
Resideal Zrt. 100% 100% Hungary  Property investment and valuation.
Exter-lmmo Zrt. 100% 100% Hungary  Financial leasing activity.
Exter-Bérlet Kft. 100% 100% Hungary ~ Wholesale trade.
Ercorner Kft. 50% 50% Hungary  Property investments
Euro-Immat Uzemeltetési Kft. 100% 100% Hungary  Intalegitssets, icense maintenance.
Extercom Vagyonkez&Kit. 100% 100% Hungary  Property investments
MKB Nyugdijpénztart és Egészségpénztart Kiszolgdio 100% 100% Hungary  Other services
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29

Segment information

The following segment information has been prepamegtcordance with IFRS 8, “Operating
Segments,” which defines requirements for the d&ale of financial information of an
entity’s operating segments. It follows the “managet approach”, which requires
presentation of the segments on the basis of thenial reports about components of the entity
which are regularly reviewed by the chief operatifgcision-maker in order to allocate
resources to a segment and to assess its perfamdanagement reporting for the Group is
based on IFRS.

Business segments

The business segments identified by the Group septethe organizational structure as
reflected in its internal management reporting eyt The Group is organized into four
business lines, each with its own distinct market products. Each business line has its own
set of objectives and targets broken down by operatnits, which are consistent with the
Group's overall strategic direction. As of 30 J@@4.3, the Group's business segments and
their main products were:

Corporate Banking

The Group provides trade finance, a wide array refdit, account and deposit products,
forfeiting and factoring, letters of credit, guatess, international payments, portfolio
management, project and structured finance, invagtrand financial advisory services to
large Hungarian and regional public and privatdeseentities through branches and
electronic delivery channels.

I nstitutional Banking

MKB Group serves financial institutions and finaalcservice companies with nostro and
vostro account services, international and domegstigments, correspondent banking and
participates in bank-to-bank finance, club and &yated loans.

Retail and Private Banking

The Group provides a wide range of deposit andngavinstrument, credit and debit cards,
portfolio management, and a limited number of Ipaoducts to high net worth individuals
and entrepreneurs through 179 full-service branemelssub-branches (2012: 179 branches),
ATMs, telephone and electronic channels.

Money and Capital Markets

The Group serves domestic institutions with soptageéd cash management and risk
mitigation tools through money market products aedivative financial instruments, and

manages the Group's liquidity, interest rate ancbi§m exchange positions. The Group
provides capital market products, custody and assahagement, pension fund and
investment fund management, collaterised loan ieaand investment and other financial
advisory services to large corporations and in#bis, and manages the Group's market
positions.
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Other

Residual items which cannot be directly allocatedbtisiness segments (mainly general
administration expenses) are included in the Qtheggory.

Private Banking

Retail and

Money and

Capital Markets el

Note Corporate Institutional

Banking Banking
Assets
Cash reserves - 285 137
Loans and advances to banks - 2140
Trading assets - -
Investments in securities - -
Loans and advances to customers 732 654 885
Assets from Discontinued opeartion 193 859 3733
Other assets - -
Investments in jointly controlled entities and asa@s 7718 -
Intangibles, property and equipment - -

934 231 291 895
Liabilities
Amounts due to other banks - 195 472
Current and deposit accounts 447 784 17 566
Trading liabilties - -
Derivative liabilties held for risk management - -
Liabiities of Discontinued operation - 50 010
Other liabiities and provisions 23 147
Deferred tax liability 54 43
Issued debt securities 8294 7180
Subordinated debt - 102 219
Shareholders' equity - -

456 155 372 637
I ncome statement
Gross revenue - external customers 22539 6103
Gross revenue - inter-segment (1122) 4170
Interest and commission expenditure (10 422) (5 809)
Impairment and provisions for losses 21 (12 852) (24)
Operating expenses (5 699) (2 409)
Expenses related to bank levies - -
Share of associates' loss (140) -
Profit / (Loss) before taxation (7 556) 2031
Result from discontinued operation 30 (3922) (75)
Segment result (11 478) 1956
Other information
Capital expenditure - -
Depreciation and amortisation 12 (22) (1)
Other non-cash expenses 157 67
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615 a7 30145 30977
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28 695 23211 (9 126) 71422
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5577 (443)  (27794) (32182
- - 99 99
(37) - - (60)
292 39 108 663
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Data in HUF million except stated otherwise

Corporate Institutional Retail and Money and Other Total
Banking Banking Private Banking Capital Markets

Assets
Cash reserves - 404 353 - - 9437 413 790
Loans and advances to banks 5 - 10 277 - 71039 81316
Trading assets 6 - - - 33878 - 33878
Investments in securities 8 - - - 229 230 - 229 230
Loans and advances to customers 9 958 068 1602 698 687 - - 1658357
Assets from Discontinued operation 30 22 438 27 769 298 - 15 668 66 173
Other assets 10 - - - - 16 076 16 076
Deferred tax assets 166 75 117 56 19 433
Investments in jointly controlled entities and asates 11 7 686 - - - - 7 686
Intangibles, property and equipment 12 - - - 72234 72234

988 358 444 076 699 102 334 203 113 434 2579173
Liahilities
Amounts due to other banks 13 - 306 442 - 367 774 - 674 216
Current and deposit accounts 14 581 512 10 462 797 063 - - 1389 037
Trading liabilties 15 - - - 21835 - 21835
Derivative liabilties held for risk management 16 - - - 214 - 214
Liabilties of Discontinued operation 30 56 595 1040 - 905 957 59 497
Other liabilties and provisions 17 596 137 1185 40 25 549 27 507
Deferred tax liability 66 60 82 40 16 264
Issued debt securities 18 - 164 178 - 4428 1640 170 246
Subordinated debt - 101 642 - - - 101 642
Shareholders' equity 19, 20 - - - - 134715 134715

638 769 583 961 798 330 395 236 162 877 2579173
Income statement
Gross revenue - external customers 26 003 26 793 36 522 (4 885) 7307 91 740
Gross revenue - inter-segment (5 056) (3277) 8333 - - -
Interest and commission expenditure (14 828) (19 993) (15 874) - - (50 695)
Impairment and provisions for losses 21 (11 378) (1 463) (4 513) - (34) (17 388)
Operating expenses (5192) (980) (13 614) (876) (7 251) (27 913)
Expenses related to bank levies (401) (13 242) - - - (13 643)
Share of associates' loss (69) - - - - (69)
Profit / (Loss) before taxation (10 921) (12 162) 10 854 (5761) 22 (17 968)
Result from discontinued operation 30 (541) (670) () - (378) (1596)
Segment result (11 462) (12 832) 10 847 (5761) (356) (19 564
Other information
Capital expenditure - - - - 3492 3492
Depreciation and amortisation 12 1635 56 2404 - - 4095
Other non-cash expenses 150 28 393 25 209 805

In presenting information on the basis

of geogreghiareas, revenue is based on the

geographical location of customers and assets asedbon the geographical location of the

assets.
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30

29.2

2013 Hungary Romania Bulgaria  Other Total
Net interest income 31337 (113) - (661) 30563
Net commission income 8 480 (4) - (9 8467
Other operating income (20 313) (4581) (1215) 175 (25934)
Total revenue 19504 (4698) (1215) (495) 13096
Non current assets 66 263 276 - - 66540

2012 Hungary Romania Bulgaria  Other Total
Net interest income 28 265 (50) - (948) 27 267
Net commission income 5397 13 - (25) 5385
Other operating income 1007 (1525) 180 (7 320) (7658)
Total revenue 34669 (1562) 180 (8 293) 24994
Non current assets 67 427 2344 1540 (2323) 68988

Other location comprises consolidation effects.

Measurement of segment profit or loss

Segment reporting under IFRS 8 requires a presentaf the segment results based on
management reporting methods with reconciliatiotwben the results of the business
segments and the consolidated financial statemdims. information provided about each
segment is based on the internal reports about exgigprofit or loss, assets and other
information which are regularly reviewed by theeftoperating decision maker.

Calculation of intersegment revenue

Intersegment revenues and expenses are calculatetket interest method. In the case of
refinanced loans, as well as those linked to a sigpare evaluated against the connected
transaction. Revenues and expenses on refinaneed land loans linked to deposit are
calculated with reference to the interest of théaulying transaction.

Since the Group’s business activities are divenseature and its operations are integrated,
certain estimates and judgments have been madeprteon revenue and expense items
among the business segments.

Discontinued Operation

During 2013 the management decided to sell not dwéxtebank S.A (former MKB
Romexterra Bank S.A), but also MKB Unionbank AD.eThanagement is committed to
cease businesses which are categorised as norbusiess by the group strategy. MKB
expects to conclude the sales during the finayeiat 2013.

Romexterra Leasing is not disclosed as discontirapstation starting from 30 June 2013.
MKB Group has changed its plan.

Assets, liabilities and profit from discontinuedeogtion include the followings:
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30.1
2013 2014
Assets
Cash reserves 53 833 12 262
Loans and advances to banks 3887 1324
Trading assets 3354 298
Investments in securities 34 723 26 461
Loans and advances to customers 193 859 22 438
Other assets 4 052 3008
Investments in jointly controlled entities and asates 116 129
Intangibles, property and equipment - 253
Total assets 293 824 66 17
Liabilities
Amounts due to other banks 50 009 1 040
Current and deposit accounts 208 581 57 482
Trading liabilties 19 18
Other liabilties and provisions 1613 939
Deferred tax liability 13 18
Issued debt securities 4 489 -
Total liabilities 264 724 59 49
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2013 2017

I ncome statement:

Interest income 8 755 9897

Interest expense 4300 4 493
Net interest income 4 455 5 404

Net income from commissions and fees 1 806 1782

Other operating income / (expense) (1582) 815

Impairments and provisions for losses 2 362 2 992

Operating expenses 7 960 6 675
Profit /Loss before taxation (5 643) (1 666

Income tax expense 243 (70)
PROFIT / LOSS FOR THE YEAR (5 886) (1 596
Other comprehensive income:

Revaluation on AFS financial assets (131) 107

Exchange differencies on translating foreign opemat 251 (2 921)

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax 20 (2 814

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR (5 766) (4 410

Nextebank S.A has been accounted under for IFR8cg she end of 2011, MKB could not
finalize the selling transaction, due to the apptgwocess of National Bank of Romania.
Regardless of the prolonged processes, the managésrsdill committed to sell it. Based on
the management expectation the recoverable amduihiednvestment in MKB Nextebank
S.A may not achieve its net asset value. IFRS5luatian as per 30 June 2013 eventuated
further portfolio impairment loss of HUF 1,279 rol, in 2012 HUF 3,750 million portfolio
impairment of Loans and advances was already ategufor, whereas the intangibles,
tangibles and other assets of Nextebank were ig&ir Zero in 2011.

Based on the Supervisory Board'’s decision, MKB Bankommitted to sell the investment in
MKB Unionbank AD. As the expected selling pricel@ver than net asset value of the
operation, an additional impairment was chargediriteingibles, tangible assets and other
assets in an amount of HUF 3,813 million.

MKB will reclassify the revaluation from currencyatslation reserve of foreign operation
into profit or loss on the date of disposal, whaahounted to HUF 1,505 million gain at the
end of the reporting period.
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Forborn assets

During the normal course of business the Grouprgtiméo forbearance measures to decrease
the loan loss for the debtors who have problemi pétyment ability but not with willingness

to pay.

Restructured exposures are renegotiated, reschiedptelonged) as well as restructured
loans, receivables and credits (including also lpased ones) originated in the framework of
an amendment or termination of a previously conetudontract, initiated either by the debtor
or the Group, where

» the contract is amended in order to avoid defaedialise the debtor is unable to fulfil its
payment obligations in compliance with the conditicof the original contract due to
significant deterioration in its financial positian solvency,

» the amendments significantly change the originahseand conditions of the outstanding
contract, contrary to the market terms and conaktiapplicable to contracts of the same
type and concluded under the same conditions, and

* a supplementary agreement or a new contract isluaeat between the debtor and the
Group that relates to a new loan provided for tegayment of the outstanding debts
(principal and/or interest) arising from the origlircontract that is terminated, or to any
further commitment assumed to avoid any increagbarcredit risks and to mitigate the
possible loss.

The Group generally applies the following type$arbearance measures:

» interest rate cut, or lower pricing,

* interest capitalisation,

» extension of the tenor/final maturity of the loan,
* renegotiation of original repayment schedule,

* agreement on instalment payment,

» reduction of the collateral coverage,

» refinancing of the loan.

Besides the Group’s internal forbearance initiaj\tee home protection measures in the retail
clientele launched by the Hungarian governmeneery 2011 and 2012, and set by legal
regulations also result in forborn assets. Sucktagsclude:

« the preferential buffer account facility (“arfolygdt”) granted pursuant to the act on
FX loans and the related original FX loan,
e loans converted into HUF until August 31, 2012 parg to the provisions and
conditions of Act LXXV of 2011 with the parallel we-off of 25% of the original debt.
Such exposures and associated credit risks aregednamonitored and reported distinctly by
specific restructuring business and risk units i Group on the basis of guidelines and
procedure rules set by internal regulations incatiog also both legal and supervisory
requirements. When the conditions of forbearanese¢o exist and the customer performs its
amended contractual obligations duly through aifipdcperiod (180 days or 360 days) and
its risk position shows significant improvementspective assets are returned to normal
treatments both from business and risk manageneegpg@ctives.

Forborn assets are recorded separately, and thedaohéerms and conditions of the contract
are also indicated in the accounting records. Ratiog, derecognition and subsequent
valuation of these assets are carried out accotditite general rules of accounting as
specified by the relevant IFRSs.
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The detailed requirements of risk classificatiod anpairment valuation of forborn exposures
are included in the accounting policies, and otinégrnal regulations on the valuation of
assets and liabilities, as well as in impairmend @novisioning policies. Based on these
internal guidelines, forbearance measures are alwegarded as impairment triggers and, as a
consequence, individual impairment assessment ghioel performed for such exposures
where the general methodologies and principlességssment are to be applied. On the results
of such risk assessments, impairment losses andrehersals of previously charged
impairments are accounted for according to the comrules defined by IAS 39.

31.1
Corporate Institutional Ret_a il and
Banking Banking private
Banking
Forbearence loans and advances 143 908 - 139 012 282 920
Specific allowances for impairment on
Forbearence loans and advances (39 979) - (6 780) (46 759)
Collective allowances for impairment (451) - (9) (460)
Carrying amount 103 478 - 132 223 2357
Corporate Institutional Ret_a e
Banking Banking RIS
Banking
Forbearence loans and advances 236622 14280 73 437 324 339
Specific allowances for impairment on
Forbearence loans and advances (38 120) - (5 038) (43 158)
Collective allowances for impairment (686) - (7) (693)
Carrying amount 197 816 14 280 68 392 280 48§

32 Changes in accounting estimates

After coming into effect IFRS 13 the group supeedisits fair value methodology and
introduced some changes in the calculatidme former approach was not usable for DVA
calculations which necessitated developing a newhaoa®logy by Market and
Liquidity Risk Control and Credit Risk Methodologi€rhe new calculation method is
more sophisticated, takes into account collatemats ISDA Credit Support Annex, capable of
estimating probability of default for an arbitratiyne interval. The new DVA correction is
now used for calculating the fair value of depasitounts and debt instruments under FVTPL
(see Note 25).

The total result of the new valuation model resulk8JF 961 million gains in the profit for
the year, mainly due to DVA correction.
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Events after the end of the reporting period

1) In July, 2013 an early repayment of refinancingnlaignominated in CHF was done
to the parent company in an amount of CHF 47 mmiljplUF 11,272 million as of 30 June,
2013). The original amount of CHF 190 million (H4B,437 million as of 30 June, 2013) had
a maturity in April 2013 which was prolonged by grear three months.

During July 2013 another refinancing loan was piegtpa the total outstanding amount of
EUR 62 million (HUF 18,300 million as of 30 Juné)13). The loan had a maturity of 24
December 2013.

2) Dr. Markus Wiegelmann is a new member of the Supery Board from 19 July
2013.

3) In July, 2013 the Hungarian Competition Authorityade a decision, based on this
MKB Bank can expect to pay a penalty during thery@e decision is the result of the

investigation in connection with the suspectedetast the Hungarian commercial banks: the
interest rates of the loans denominated in HUF wazreeased by the banks in course of the
FX repayment facility in 2011. The Authority founttat this collective increase of interest

rates was a cartel indeed.

The impact of the decision for MKB Bank cannot hegtified, as the amount or calculation

method of the amount of the penalty is not publispet.
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Enclosure 1

STATEMENT

on the consolidated semi-annual financial statements of 2013
and on the Report of the Management
Pursuant to Ministry of Finance Decree no. 24/2008 (VIIL.15.)

MKB Bank Zrt (hereinafter: Bank) declares concerning its consolidated semi-annual financial
statements the following statement:

The Bank declares that the consolidated semi-annual financial statements have been compiled in
accordance with the applicable accounting rules. The consolidated semi-annual financial statements
compiled based on the best knowledge of the Bank’s competent experts and decision making
managers present a realistic and reliable picture on the assets, liabilities, financial position, as well as
profits and losses of the Bank as an issuer of securities and of the consolidated enterprises.

No independent audit report was made concerning the consolidated semi-annual financial statements.
The Bank declares furthermore that the consolidated Report of the Management (Consolidated
Management Report) provides a reliable picture of the position, situation, development and

performance of the Bank as an issuer of securities and of the consolidated enterprises, and describes
the key risks and uncertainty factors concerning the remaining six months of the financial year.

Budapest, 27 August, 2013

MKB Bank Zrt.

o

/ dr Pél Simé
Chairman & Chief Executive
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CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT

In the first half of 2013 consolidation and furtiggowth became possible for Hungary and
the region, in a significantly more favourable miional environment. The US continued
its QE programme, which was joined also by the dapanese financial government. The
still robust Chinese growth continued, althougla alower pace. In Europe the role of the
bank depositors was revaluated parallel with thesobdation of the crisis in Cyprus,
without any need for any further crisis managenaetion. The still low international yields
made it possible for the stable countries of tiggoreto finance their budgets at a low cost.

Over the last few years the Hungarian economiccpgtiroved on several occasions its
ability to introduce measures for the fiscal batanthe EU removed the excessive deficit
procedure against the country which started in 200% reason is the less than 3% GDP
proportionate deficit in 2010-2012 and the 2013 &@l4 fiscal course established

following several rounds of discussion with the &gpgan Commission, The country had to
pay a high price for financial stability though. ddeding to the Q1 GDP figure Hungary

technically was no longer in recession (07% groarha quarter/quarter basis), on annual
basis, however, there was still a decline (-0.9%6) eountry has a significant lag from the
growth rate of the economies of several countrigbé region. What had to be sacrificed for
growth can be seen most clearly in the increadisig ind tax centralisation efforts, the lack
of effective structural reforms as well as compdest cutting measures.

In the short term the sustainability of the favduediscal deficit path was achieved with the
introduction and a further increase of new speeigés (transaction levy, special bank tax,
telecom tax, media tax, contribution on interesbime); in addition, a further VAT increase
was also considered. Although there is still someceuainty in the medium-term
sustainability of this course, the country’s CDS maproved significantly (even though it is
still lagging behind the other states of the relidrhe budget can now be financed in the
long-term without any external support. The deaealsdomestic energy prices achieved
and planned through central regulations, reductation as a single effect, but in the mid-
term, may lead to a further decline in the alreeslyord low investment ratio. In view of
that, the NBH cut the base rate by 25 bp each mamthlowered it to 4.25% by the end of
June (4.0% by August). During the rate cutting psscthe HUF/EUR exchange rate varied
around a relatively narrow band, remaining clos2gb.

In line with the international trends, NBH launchadgrowth programme (including the
availability of refinancing for banks at 0% undertain terms and conditions), which will
end in the second half of the year with some stitind) effect expected. Nonetheless, the
latest one-off contribution to the budget by theaksa the not completely passed on yet
increased transaction levy and the recent ideaa faew FX debtors scheme, may cut short
the supply of the banks’ funds in the second hiathe year. Thus in total further asset side
adjustments are likely to take place in the bankipstem, getting close to even the 100%
loan/deposit ratio this year. The reduction in tbéume of new loans has a negative effect
also on the ratio of permanently non-performingtanner loans, yet no further increase is
expected. In order to compensate for the decrea$ereign investments, the government
has set a target to increase Hungarian ownershithenbanking system, within the
framework of which the savings co-operatives wergtructured and the role of the state
expanded.
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In this market environment, the consolidated tatsets of MKB Groupaccording to IFRS
decreased by 7.6% to 2384.1 compared to end-20KB Group’s fundamental (net interest,
fee and commission) income totalled to HUF 39 br2@13H1 with an annual increase of
19.5%. The interest income and net fee and comonisecome both increased (by 12% and
57% respectively). Without the growth resulted frahe shift of the transaction levy to
customers, the increase of fee and commission iacems 2%, while that of the entire
fundamental income was 10.4%. The profit decreasmgact of the shrinking business
volumes was partially offset by the rapid and digant decline in funding costs (deposit
rates).

'Other operating income' fell significantly, theaee two main reasons behind: (i) loss of
revaluation of financial instruments within fair lua (ii) tax expense arising from the
transaction tax introduced in 2013.

The operating expenses were reduced by 14% to HiUFllion compared to the first half of
2012 as a result of tight cost management contirunelrestructuring measures. In the first
half of 2013, MKB Group's operating profit includinhe impact of the Hungarian bank tax
was negative; reaching HUF -5.0 bn. Excluding taekbtax and transaction tax, MKB Group
registered HUF 12.9 bn operating profit (8.5% abbMe2012 profit). Net impairments and
provisioning was higher by HUF 4.6 billion comparedthe previous year. The increase is
caused by two factors: first, in the first half 8012 the net amount was lowered by
impairment-reversal in securities, on the otherdh@ame-off loan losses arose due to closure of
some great, strategically non-core deals increabiagrovision charge for the current period.
MKB Group pre-tax loss was totalled to HUF 26.3ifmhe first half of 2013.

MKB-Euroleasing Group

In the first half of 2013 the volume of the salenefiv cars fell by 4% that of used cars fell
by 8%, compared to 2012, while the re-export volwoatinued to rise. The number of

financed new vehicles was down by 4%, and the segthent grew by 11% in the first five

months of 2013. The Euroleasing vehicle financingitess line exceeded its previous
year’s lending figure by 15%. Euroleasing, TFSH &®AFH had a joint market share of
25.6% in the new vehicle market in the first fivemths of 2013.

With its 11 dealerships, the CarNet group is onéheflargest actors on the market. Of the
16 brands represented by them, Renault sales ditdpp80%, Fiat sales shrank by nearly
20%, although half of the Fiat sales were made &yNét dealerships. Profit generation also
improved significantly, as a result of the addiibincome generated by service stations.

The fleet management companies of the MKB-Eurohga§roup (Hungary and Bulgaria)
compete more and more fiercely with their compsditioying to acquire customers, while
their existing partners are reducing their needsseifvices. The insurance mediating
company, Eurorisk, has expanded its portfolio Iardsy integrating smaller brokers and
their existing contracts.

Central and Eastern European Region — Bulgaria andRomania

The Bulgarian economy is very much exposed to thie area crisis. In the first months of
2013 GDP growth (0.8% in Q1 2013) still continuedimty driven by the increase in

domestic demand but it will not reach the foreahgpowth in 2013. Current account deficit
shows a slight increase since the contributionréavth from exports is decreasing just like
in many other countries of the region and imporuxtes are higher due to a boost in

1 ) . . . .

In accordance with IFRS 5 standard requirementstaltiee exit strategy MKB Nextebank SA is alrealf)sB Union Bank AD
from this period are in a separate line of ‘Disémméd operations’ in the balance sheet and themecstatement. MKB
Romexterra Leasing SA indicated earlier ‘for shlet after a review now it is not included in ‘Distimued operations’.
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households’ consumption. The Bulgarian labor maiketill weak the unemployment rate
was 13.8% in Q1 2013. The budget deficit is exgkdtereach 2% at the end of 2013
instead of current target of 1.3% however IMF sieachievable. Political and social
tensions have been dominating in Bulgaria sincebginning of 2013. Protests starting in
February against high electricity prices, questid@anonopolies, corruption and low wages
led to the resignation of the central-right (CERQ®)yernment in February 2013 and to early
elections in May. The slight majority of the newcisdist—far-right-Turkish minority
coalition could not settle the tension with itsfimeasures. Large-scale protests continued
also claiming the void of elections referring téeglal ballots and the competence of
appointed members of the ruling parties.

The Bulgarian banking system reached EUR 135.7 &fitgn the first 5 months of 2013,
slightly above last year’s profit. Commercial badeposits grew by 4.1% while gross loans
fell by 0.4% until May 2013 and the growth of corgie loans slowed down to 3.7%. After
a peak in 2013 bad and restructured loans reacBet?olin April 2013. The capital
adequacy ratio of the Bulgarian banking systemhedd 7.5% at end Q1 2013.

2012 was a year of a political crisis and changjagernments in Romania, which had a huge
impact on economic growth and its pace. In addjtire crisis of the Eurozone and the
unfavourable external environment still affect riegdy the Romanian economy, of which the
driving force of the growth is still the exports1 the first half of the year the Romanian
economy grew by 2.4% compared to the same periddeopreceding year. According to the
analysts, the GDP increase this year will be grethan the 1.6%, budgeted by the
government. Romania reached a two-year EUR 4 himdsby loan agreement (similar to the
latest EUR 5.4 bn facility that Romania closed sgstully at the end of June) with the IMF
and the EU, which will probably be signed in Octobed is provided equally by the two
organisations. Following the conclusion of the regyweement, the National Bank of Romania
is expected to cut further the base rate. At prtefenbase rate is 5%, record low since the
systemic change.

The Romanian banking system posted EUR 118mn akggte profit in Q1. Total assets of
commercial banks edged down by 1.8% y/y to EUR Bin6in Q1. Loans decreased by
1.1% yly at the end of March, deposits grew by 489 LTD fell to 114% in Q1 from
117% at the end of 2012. NLP hit 30.0% at the @@ The capital adequacy ratio of the
Romanian banking system reached 15.03% at end (AQ. 20

MKB Unionbank - Bulgaria

As one of the goals defined in relation to the ngamaent of the effects of the economic
recession, in its business activities MKB Unionbardntinued to focus on the retail
segment. Increasing primary customer relationsuijinogreater product penetration by
customers was a major objective, for the purpo$émproving the economy of scale and
preventing any deterioration of the portfolio quialiln the first half of 2013 the Bank’s
assets shrank compared to what was reported foydhe end or the same period of the
preceding year. Since the end of 2012 the modgrateth of assets and liabilities continued
only in the retail segment, with a market shareheay 2.7% in mortgage lending. In the
corporate segment the deposit portfolio shrank égrly 7% in the first half of the year,
while in lending the performance was close to thfathe year end. The primary reason
behind that was a decrease in the new loans andlishersement of EU and national
support, which many customers used for repaym@usipared to the year end, the deposit
and current accounts stagnated with a negligibbeedese (0.3%). At the end of the year the
provisions represented 8.9% of the gross loan @atfin the first six months of the year
the Bank earned BGN 2.9 min profit, with 54.43% Ci&io. Apart from sales, the
continuation of enhanced problem customer manageprenesses is of key importance in
order to mitigate the losses triggered by the neganpacts of the crisis.
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Nextebank - Romania

In 2011 MKB Bank Zrt. decided to sell its Romanian subsidiary. MKB Bank Zrt. was in negotiation
with local investors in the first half of 2013, which process may be successfully concluded by
September 2013. If there is a positive result, the transaction may take place by the end of 2013.

Budapest, 27 Augusl@fﬂ
Py
I
Z/L’ // (s
bl Gim

Chairman & Chief Executive

&
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